
  
Council Meeting Agenda 

January 3, 2022 
6:00 p.m. 

1. Call to Order and Moment of Silence .......................................................... Mayor Ed Hooks 

2. Discussion about Prayer at Council Meetings ......................... Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

3. Public Comments ........................................................................................................ Mayor 

4. Consent Agenda .......................................................................................................... Mayor 

a. Approval of Minutes- December 6, 2021 Regular Meeting 
b. Final Plat- Havenstone 1C 
c. Police- Purchase Capital with Federal Equitable Funds 
d. Sole Source Justification for Axon Enterprise, Inc. 

 
5. Public Hearings- 

a. Rezoning from R-12 to R-10- 122 S. Lane Street ........ Cy Stober, Development Director 
 

b. Quasi-judicial- Board of Adjustment- Variance-  
Side Yard Accessory Structure- 4746 Mrs. White Lane .................................. Mr. Stober 
 

6. Adjournment ............................................................................................................... Mayor 

 

 



 

AGENDA ITEM #2 

Discussion about Prayer at Council 
Meetings  

Meeting Date 
January 3, 2022 

Presenter  
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
The following is a summary from the City Attorney on the issue of prayer at City Council meetings. 

Background 
The issue arose at the last Council meeting and the City Attorney has shared with the Council and Mayor 
the applicable law relative to the subject.  Having provided such information, Council members and the 
Mayor have individually advised staff of a desire for the Council’s consideration of a written policy on the 
same.     

DISCUSSION:  An excellent summary of the case law and constitutional limitations of separation of church 
and state appear in the attached article. The primary restrictions as articulated by various judicial opinions 
of various courts (including the federal Fourth Circuit of Appeals which Court decisions are applicable to 
North Carolina) restrictions can be summarized in five points.  First, the prayer practice, if adopted, must 
be open to all religions.  Second, the prayer should be given by invited clergy.   Third, the prayer should be 
given at the outset of the meeting to solemnize the work of the Council.  Fourth, the praying clergy or other 
speaker, should not proselytize, or coerce participation by any persons in attendance.  Finally, there should 
be no evidence that attendees will be treated differently by the Council if attendees decline to attend or 
participate during the prayer “portion” of the meeting.    Any adopted policy should contain five 
tenets.  First, the purpose of the prayer should be articulated: to solemnize the meeting.  Second, the policy 
should state the types of prayers (i.e., to solemnize the actions of the Council) and prayers are not to 
proselytize a particular faith.  Third, it needs to be clear that members of the public are free to leave during 
such time.  Fourth, the policy should be clear that no one will be treated differently by the Council in its 
consideration of all matters, on any basis as a result of the prayer.  Finally, the policy should include a 
description of the process the City uses in selecting those providing the prayer or invocation.  

Financial Impact 
N/A 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends a discussion by the Council to determine if a prayer, invocation or opportunity for private 
prayer or reflection to be a part of the Council meetings.  If a new policy for prayer is requested, staff 
recommends that the above restrictions be observed and that the above policy tenets be observed.  After 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Public Comments Council will discuss instructions to staff to write a policy consistent with Council’s 
discussion. 

Suggested Motion 
I move that staff be instructed to write a policy consistent with Council’s discussion, to be voted upon at 
the next Council meeting or I move we start our meetings with a moment of silence for private prayer 
and/or reflection by everyone. 

Attachments 
1. COATES CANONS: PRAYERS AT LOCAL GOVERNMENT MEETINGS: AN EVOLVING JURISPRUDENCE, 

September 19,2017. 
https://canons.sog.unc.edu/2017/09/prayer-local-government-meetings-evolving-
jurisprudence/?pdfex_dl=9930 
 

https://canons.sog.unc.edu/2017/09/prayer-local-government-meetings-evolving-jurisprudence/?pdfex_dl=9930
https://canons.sog.unc.edu/2017/09/prayer-local-government-meetings-evolving-jurisprudence/?pdfex_dl=9930


Prayer at Local Government Meetings: An Evolving Jurisprudence 

Published: 09/19/17 

Author Name: Frayda Bluestein 

Is it legal for local governments to open board meetings with a prayer? It can be, depending upon how it 
is done. If not done correctly, the prayer practice may violate the Establishment Clause of the United 
States Constitution. Court decisions have emphasized that the analysis in prayer cases is very fact specific, 
and each new case turns on its own set of facts and conclusions. This blog is longer than usual because it 
replaces earlier posts that summarized the key Supreme Court cases on this issue, and adds a summary 
of the latest decisions from the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals. That decision invalidated the prayer 
practice in Rowan County, North Carolina. While it’s difficult to articulate a rule or framework that can be 
applied to every prayer practice or policy, I’ve attempted to identify the kinds of prayer practices that are 
legally acceptable and the kinds that are prohibited. 

Supreme Court Cases 

In 1983, the United States Supreme Court, in Marsh v. Chambers, 463 U.S. 783 (1983), upheld the 
Nebraska state legislature’s practice of opening sessions with a prayer. The prayers were given by a 
chaplain who was paid with public funds and the prayers were addressed to the legislative body. The 
Supreme Court noted that the practice of opening sessions of the United States Congress with prayer had 
continued without interruption since the First Congress drafted the First Amendment, and a similar 
practice had been followed for more than a century in Nebraska and in many other states. Accordingly, in 
upholding the prayer practice, the Court placed great weight on the “unbroken history” of opening 
legislative sessions with prayer, a practice which had become “part of the fabric of our society.” Id. at 792. 
The Court concluded: “This unique history leads us to accept the interpretation of the First Amendment 
draftsmen who saw no real threat to the Establishment Clause arising from a practice of prayer similar to 
that now challenged.” Id. at 791. 

The Court went on to determine whether the specific features of the Nebraska legislative prayers violated 
the Establishment Clause. The key facts were “first that a clergyman of only one denomination – 
Presbyterian – has been selected for 16 years; second, that the chaplain is paid at public expense; and 
third, that the prayers are in the Judeo-Christian tradition.” Id. at 793. A footnote explained the nature of 
the prayers as follows: “Palmer [the Chaplain] characterizes his prayers as ‘nonsectarian,’ ‘Judeo 
Christian,’ and with ‘elements of the American civil religion.’ Although some of his earlier prayers were 
often explicitly Christian, Palmer removed all references to Christ after a 1980 complaint from a Jewish 
legislator.” Id. at fn. 14. The Court had no qualms with either the length of the chaplain’s tenure or the 
fact that he had been paid with public funds—payment with public funds was consistent with the historical 
practice. In regard to the Judeo-Christian tradition of the prayers, the Court held: “The content of the 
prayer is not of concern to judges where, as here, there is no indication that the prayer opportunity has 
been exploited to proselytize or advance any one, or to disparage any other, faith or belief. That being so, 
it is not for us to embark on a sensitive evaluation or to parse the content of a particular prayer.” Id. at 
794-95 (emphasis added). 

Two key questions remained unclear after Marsh. First, the case was widely interpreted as allowing only 
secular prayer, or prayers that did not predominately promote a particular religion, but the decision was 
not particularly clear on this point. Second, would Marsh apply to prayers offered at local government 
meetings? The prayers in Marsh were offered to the state legislative body. In contrast, the local 
government setting typically has the person offering the prayer facing members of the public who attend 
and sometimes have direct requests or other business with the board. In 2014, the United States Supreme 
Court addressed these questions in Town of Greece, N.Y. v. Galloway, 134. S.Ct. 1811 (2014). The Town of 
Greece, New York opened its board meetings with a prayer offered by clergy from various local churches. 
The town staff initially solicited participation from multiple congregations, but over time they came to 
rely on a list of potential participants that included only Christian clergy. Although the prayer practice was 
open to any religion, most of the town’s congregations were Christian, and the prayers were 
predominately and explicitly Christian. Several citizens challenged the town’s practice, arguing that the 
predominance of Christian prayers violated the Establishment Clause because it created an impression 
that the town endorsed a particular religion. They also alleged that the intimacy of the setting made them 
feel coerced to join in the prayer. 

The Supreme Court held that prayer at local government meetings, if conducted appropriately, “fits within 
the tradition long followed in Congress and the state legislatures,” as upheld in Marsh, resolving without 

https://canons.sog.unc.edu/post-author/frayda-bluestein/
https://www.law.cornell.edu/supremecourt/text/463/783
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Town_of_Greece_v._Galloway


reservation the question of whether Marsh applies in a local government setting. Id. at 1813. The Court 
also dispelled the notion that the constitution as interpreted in Marsh allows only nonsectarian prayer. 
Finally, the Court rejected the claim that the prayers were coercive to citizens attending the meetings, 
with a plurality relying on the fact that the principal audience for the opening prayer was the legislative 
body itself, and concluding that “in the general course legislative bodies do not engage in impermissible 
coercion merely by exposing constituents to prayer they would rather not hear and in which they need 
not participate.” Id. at 1827. 

The key facts that appear to be important to the outcome are: 1) the prayer practice was open to all 
religions, 2) the prayers were delivered by invited clergy, 3) prayers were offered at the beginning of the 
meeting and met the purpose of solemnizing the work of the governing body, 4) the prayers did not 
proselytize or coerce participation by those attending the meeting, and 5) there was no evidence that 
attendees were or would be treated differently if they declined to attend or participate in the prayer 
portion of the meeting. 

Rowan County Case 

In 2013, three Rowan County residents sued the county over the commissioners’ practice of opening 
meetings with a prayer given exclusively by members of the board themselves. Between 2007 and 2013, 
97% of the meetings were opened with sectarian, Christian prayers. No prayers from other faiths or other 
people were offered during that time. The plaintiffs objected to the prayers because, they said, the 
board’s practice caused them to feel excluded from the community. They alleged that they felt compelled 
to stand and that their opposition to the prayer hindered their ability to be effective advocates for issues 
that came before the board. Individual commissioners were quoted in news media about their 
commitment to continuing the sectarian prayers in the face of the legal challenge. The board had no 
formal policy regarding the prayer practice, but affidavits filed by board members indicated that citizens 
were free to leave the room for the prayer or come in after it, and that such actions would not affect 
citizens’ rights to participate in meetings. 

While the Rowan County lawsuit was progressing, the Supreme Court issued its opinion in Town of 
Greece. As already noted, the Supreme Court has emphasized that Establishment Clause cases are very 
fact-intensive. The federal district judge analyzed the case by comparing the specific practices in Rowan 
County with the practices that were upheld in Town of Greece, and concluded that the Rowan County 
board’s practices were unconstitutional. The judge held that when prayers are offered by board members 
who are all Christian, the effect is an endorsement of that religion. In addition, when prayers are offered 
by the board members, the effect is more coercive on individuals attending meetings. The judge 
concluded that the practice of board members asking members of the audience to stand and join the 
board in prayer, as well as comments some members made to news media, contributed to an 
unconstitutionally coercive environment. Lund v. Rowan County, N.C., 103 F. Supp. 3d 712 (2015), rev’d 
and remanded sub nom. Lund v. Rowan County, N. Carolina, 837 F.3d 407 (4th Cir. 2016), as 
amended (Sept. 21, 2016), reh’g en banc granted, 670 Fed. Appx. 106 (4th Cir. 2016) (unpublished), and on 
reh’g en banc, 863 F.3d 268 (4th Cir. 2017), and aff’d sub nom. Lund v. Rowan County, N. Carolina, 863 
F.3d 268 (4th Cir. 2017) 

In 2016, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the lower court’s decision. A divided three-judge 
panel held that the board member-led prayers in Rowan County were consistent with the standard 
in Town of Greece and did not violate the plaintiffs’ constitutional rights. The dissenting judge viewed the 
facts of the case as distinguishable from Town of Greece, however, concluding that, it is the “combination 
of the role of the commissioners, their instructions to the audience, their invocation of a single faith, and 
the local governmental setting that threatens to blur the line between church and state to a degree 
unimaginable in Town of Greece.” Lund v. Rowan County, N. Carolina, 837 F.3d 407, 435 (4th Cir. 2016) 
(Wilkinson, dissenting), as amended (Sept. 21, 2016), reh’g en banc granted, 670 Fed. Appx. 106 (4th Cir. 
2016) (unpublished), and on reh’g en banc, 863 F.3d 268 (4th Cir. 2017). 

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals subsequently granted a request to rehear this case “en banc” 
(meaning, by all of the judges, rather than just a three-judge panel).  The Court issued its decision in July, 
2017, reversing the previous decision and declaring Rowan County’s prayer practices 
unconstitutional. Lund v. Rowan County, N. Carolina, 863 F.3d 268 (4th Cir. 2017). The dissenting judge in 
the three-judge panel wrote the majority opinion, but the court was quite divided, with one separate 
concurring opinion and two separate dissenting opinions, one of which was joined by five of the fifteen 
judges. 

http://www.ca4.uscourts.gov/Opinions/Published/151591A.P.pdf


Fact-sensitive analysis: Identity of the prayer-giver 

As in previous cases, the Fourth Circuit judges all agreed that Establishment Clause prayer cases are “fact 
sensitive.” The parties and judges in Rowan County all agreed on the facts, but there was sharp 
disagreement about what they meant. The key fact – and the crux of the disagreement among the judges 
– was whether the identity of the person giving the prayer matters. In Marsh and Town of Greece, prayers 
were offered by paid or invited clergy, and not by board members. The majority opinion in Rowan 
County, however, saw a significant difference between “legislative prayer” (prayer provided by a third 
party for the legislative body) and “lawmaker-led prayer” (prayer offered by members of the legislative 
body itself). The majority and dissents simply disagree about the legal significance of this distinction. The 
opinion holds: 

Marsh and Town of Greece thus show a Court generally supportive of legislative prayer, careful to 
emphasize that sectarian references are permissible in proper context, but cautioning that the prayer 
opportunity not get out of hand. This case differs from Marsh and Town of Greece in two crucial respects 
that, in combination with other aspects of the Board’s prayers, give rise to an unprecedented prayer 
practice. First, whereas guest ministers delivered the prayers in those cases, the legislators themselves 
gave the invocations in Rowan County. Second, the prayer opportunity here was exclusively reserved for 
the commissioners, creating a “closed-universe” of prayer-givers…. Lund, 103 F.Supp.3d at 723. This case 
is therefore “more than a factual wrinkle on Town of Greece.” Lund, 837 F.3d at 431 (panel dissent). “It is 
a conceptual world apart.” Id. 

Id. at 277. The main dissent argues, in contrast, that neither Marsh nor Town of Greece “attached 
particular significance to the identity of the speakers” and notes examples of states in which lawmakers 
offer prayers. Id. at 307 (Agee, dissenting). 

Sectarian Prayers 

Another key fact is the sectarian nature of the prayers. Town of Greece approved a prayer practice that 
resulted in the delivery of primarily Christian sectarian prayers and rejected the notion that Marsh should 
be read to prohibit sectarian prayer. In Rowan County, the sectarian prayers resulted from the fact that 
only board members led prayers and they were all of the same religion. Measuring Rowan County’s 
practice of offering exclusively Christian prayers against the practice upheld in Town of Greece, the 
majority found significant differences: 

Compare the county’s rigid, restrictive practice with the more flexible, inclusive approach upheld in Town 
of Greece. Greece welcomed adherents of all faiths, allowing “any member of the public [the chance] to 
offer an invocation reflecting his or her own convictions.” Id. at 1826 (plurality opinion). Most of the guest 
ministers were Christian, owing to the fact that “nearly all of the congregations in town turned out to be 
Christian.” Id. at 1824 (majority opinion). To address complaints, however, the town “invited a Jewish 
layman and the chairman of the local Baha’i temple to deliver prayers” and granted a Wiccan priestess’s 
request to participate. Id. at 1817. By opening its prayer opportunity to all comers, the town cultivated an 
atmosphere of greater tolerance and inclusion. 

Id. at 282. In contrast, the dissent insists, “The Court [in Town of Greece] explicitly disavowed any 
constitutional requirement that legislative prayers be nonsectarian to comply with the Establishment 
Clause…” Id. at 303. 

The setting in which the prayer arises 

The plaintiffs in the Rowan County case argued that the intimate setting of a local government meeting 
created a situation in which individuals may feel coerced to join in prayer. The record showed that board 
members often asked members of the audience to stand and join them in prayer. The majority    noted: 

Relative to sessions of Congress and state legislatures, the intimate setting of a municipal board meeting 
presents a heightened potential for coercion. Local governments possess the power to directly influence 
both individual and community interests. As a result, citizens attend meetings to petition for valuable 
rights and benefits, to advocate on behalf of cherished causes, and to keep tabs on their elected 
representatives—in short, to participate in democracy. The decision to attend local government meetings 
may not be wholly voluntary in the same way as the choice to participate in other civic or community 
functions…Like other local governments, the Board exercises both legislative authority over questions of 
general public importance as well as a quasi-adjudicatory power over such granular issues as zoning 
petitions, permit applications, and contract awards…This is not to suggest that the commissioners made 



decisions based on whether an attendee participated in the prayers. But the fact remains that the Board 
considered individual petitions on the heels of the commissioners’ prayers. 

Id. at 287-88. The court recognized that the board’s invitations to join in prayers made the plaintiffs feel 
compelled to stand so that they would not stand out, and it also noted that one person who spoke out 
against the Board’s prayer practice was booed and jeered by her fellow citizens. Id. at 288. 

            Conclusion 

In summary, the final Fourth Circuit decision holds that the combined effect of the following prayer 
practices violates the Constitution: Only board members deliver the prayers, the board members are all 
of the same religion, there is no opportunity for other faiths to be represented, and the board meetings 
occur in the intimate setting of a local government meeting. The majority concluded that these practices 
did not align with the approved practices of Marsh and the Town of Greece. The Fourth Circuit determined 
that these circumstances, in conjunction, created a “closed –universe” of prayer-givers and gave the 
perception that “Rowan County had taken sides on questions of faith.” Id. at 284. 

The Rowan County case is binding for all federal courts in the Fourth Circuit, which includes North Carolina. 
North Carolina local governments may want to review their prayer practices in light Rowan 
County and Town of Greece, even though they leave many questions regarding the constitutionality of 
legislative prayer practice unanswered. In the following sections, I have set out my sense of the current 
law on the major aspects of prayer at meetings. 

Sectarian prayers 

Town of Greece and Marsh approved practices that resulted in a predominance of sectarian (Christian) 
prayers. In each of those cases, however, the practice included opportunities for different faiths and 
beliefs to be represented. Rowan County holds that the sectarian nature of the prayers is not acceptable 
if the process is not open to other faiths and if only board members offer the prayers. No case requires 
there to be a balance of religions represented, but Town of Greece suggests that there should be at least 
an opportunity for all faiths to be represented. While the holding in Town of Greece noted that the 
predominance of Christian prayers reflected the majority of the population in the town, an important 
feature in the Court’s holding was that the town’s program was open to any faith, and that the town did, 
at least initially, reach out to all congregations. 

Board members giving prayers 

Neither of the relevant Supreme Court cases involved board members giving prayers. Although Rowan 
County rejected this practice, the opinion makes clear that there is not an absolute bar on legislators giving 
prayers: 

The plaintiffs have never contended that the Establishment Clause prohibits legislators from giving 
invocations, nor did the district court so conclude. See Lund, 103 F.Supp.3d at 722 n.4 (“[T]he 
Commissioners’ provision of prayers is not per se unconstitutional…. Under a different, inclusive prayer 
practice, Commissioners might be able to provide prayers….”). Like the plaintiffs and the district court, we 
“would not for a moment cast all legislator-led prayer as constitutionally suspect.” Lund, 837 F.3d at 433 
(panel dissent). Religious faith is “a source of personal guidance, strength, and comfort.” Id. at 431. And 
legislative prayer’s “solemnizing effect for lawmakers is likely heightened when they personally utter the 
prayer.” Id. at 433. Accordingly, the Establishment Clause indeed allows lawmakers to deliver invocations 
in appropriate circumstances. Legislator-led prayer is not inherently unconstitutional. 

Id. at 279–80. The court does not describe the specific circumstances under which board prayer would be 
acceptable, but we can deduce a few key components. It may be possible that board members could 
deliver prayers as long as there is a diversity of religious faiths. Such diversity might exist among the board 
members, but diversity more likely would would occur if the board members are not the only ones offering 
prayers. It may also be possible that board members could be the exclusive prayer-givers if the prayers 
are non-sectarian. 

Inviting people to stand or pray 

Plaintiffs in these cases alleged that they felt coerced to join in the prayer practice because of the intimacy 
of the local government setting and the fact that board members or others giving prayers invited people 
to stand and pray. As noted earlier, in Town of Greece the court held that the clergy were simply using 
words they’re accustomed to using when praying with their congregations, and that people were free to 
refrain from standing or praying and were not coerced to pray. The Rowan County opinion comes to a 



different conclusion. Because the opinion describes the combination of factors as the basis for the 
holding, it is difficult to determine whether this aspect is suspect without the other Rowan County factors 
present. Clearly though, the holding in Town of Greece still applies if third parties are offering prayers. If 
there is a process that allows for a diversity of faiths and beliefs, inviting people to rise or join may be 
allowed. 

What types of prayers are not allowed 

It is clear from Town of Greece that some types of prayers violate the Establishment Clause no matter 
who offers them. The prayers must not proselytize, and they must be consistent with the purpose of the 
setting – that is – the opening of a meeting. The court noted: 

Prayer that is solemn and respectful in tone, that invites lawmakers to reflect upon shared ideals and 
common ends before they embark on the fractious business of governing, serves that legitimate function. 
If the course and practice over time shows that the invocations denigrate nonbelievers or religious 
minorities, threaten damnation, or preach conversion, many present may consider the prayer to fall short 
of the desire to elevate the purpose of the occasion and to unite lawmakers in their common effort. That 
circumstance would present a different case than the one presently before the Court. 

Town of Greece, 134 S.Ct. at 1823. Town of Greece and Rowan County suggest that when courts 
adjudicate a challenge to legislative prayer, they should inquire “into the prayer opportunity as a whole, 
rather than into the contents of a single prayer.” In doing so, courts must conduct a “fact-sensitive review 
of the setting in which the prayer arises and the audience to whom it is directed” and also evaluate “the 
pattern of prayers over time.” Rowan County at 280-81 (citing Town of Greece, 134 S.Ct. at 1824). 

Reviewing prayers in advance 

Can a local government require prayer givers to submit their prayers in advance? This would seem to be 
a reasonable practice to avoid prayers that cross the line into proselytizing or disparaging non- or 
different-believers. This raises a challenging issue for local governments who open their meetings with 
prayer. Courts have made clear that some types of prayers are not acceptable, but at the same time 
they’ve noted that government becomes inappropriately entangled with religion when it gets into the 
business of approving or editing proposed prayers. 

[I]t is not normally government’s place to rewrite, to parse, or to critique the language of particular 
prayers. And it is always possible that members of one religious group will find that prayers of other 
groups (or perhaps even a moment of silence) are not compatible with their faith. Despite this risk, the 
Constitution does not forbid opening prayers. But neither does the Constitution forbid efforts to explain 
to those who give the prayers the nature of the occasion and the audience. 

Town of Greece, 134 S.Ct. at 1840. So it’s not entirely clear how a government body can ensure that prayer 
content is acceptable. Certainly the body has authority to reject members or others who have given 
unacceptable prayers. The prayers are government speech, not an exercise of any First Amendment right. 
But it’s possible that the government may be limited to an advance warning and an after-the-fact 
assessment rather than an approval process. 

Here is an example of a guideline for prayer-givers from a North Carolina city: 

Prior to commencement of the business of City Council, an invocation may be offered. Such invocation may 
include a non-sectarian prayer, directed to the members of the Council, and providing a time of reflection 
and encouragement. The prayer should not be used to proselytize or advance any one faith or belief, nor 
should it be used to disparage or attack any other faith or belief. The invocation should be seen as an 
opportunity to convey a message of the community’s shared values and ideals, derived from our rich 
American religious heritage. 

Prayer policies 

Local governments who engage in prayer should consider adopting a policy setting out their prayer 
practices. Policies might include the following information: 

• A statement setting out the purpose of the prayer. Examples of purposes are “to solemnize the 
work of the body” and “to invite lawmakers to reflect upon shared ideals and common ends 
before they embark on the business of governing.” 

https://canons.sog.unc.edu/the-government-speech-doctrine-and-local-government-meetings-can-the-government-take-sides/


• An explanation of the types of prayers that are allowed and a statement that those offering 
prayers shall not proselytize and shall not proselytize or advance any one, or disparage any other, 
faith or belief. 

• A statement that no one is required to participate and that members of the public are free to join 
the meeting after the prayer or leave the meeting during the prayer. 

• A statement that members of the public will not be treated differently based on whether they 
participate in the prayer. 

• A description of the process the unit uses chooses to select prayer-givers. 

  

Rebecca Badgett, Local Government Legal Research Associate, contributed to this blog post. 

 



 

City Council Meeting 
Mebane Municipal Building 
Monday, December 6, 2021 

 

The Mebane City Council met for its regular monthly meeting at 6:00 p.m., Monday, December 6, 
2021 in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Building located at 106 East Washington Street.  

Councilmembers Present: Also Present:  
Mayor Ed Hooks Chris Rollins, City Manager 
Mayor Pro-Tem Jill Auditori                                      Preston Mitchell, Assistant City Manager      
Councilmember Everette Greene Lawson Brown, City Attorney 
Councilmember Patty Philipps Stephanie Shaw, City Clerk 
Councilmember Tim Bradley Cy Stober, Development Director 
Councilmember Everette Greene Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director 
Councilmember Sean Ewing 
Councilmember Montrena Hadley 
Councilmember Jonathan White  
                                                                                                                                                       
Mayor Hooks called the meeting to order.  He then recognized and welcomed Pack 1 Cub Scouts 
and Scout Leaders that were in attendance. He also recognized District Court Judge Larry Brown, 
Jr. who was in attendance to swear in a new Councilmember.  

Mayor Hooks read aloud the following statement regarding the invocation.   

“Because of Mebane’s conviction that the diversity of our strongly held beliefs makes us greater, 
not weaker, and because of our commitment to show respect to all faiths, beliefs and perspectives, 
the Mebane City Council will no longer open its meetings with an invocation.” 

Mayor Hooks then called for a moment of silence.   

Tom Boney, Editor of the Alamance News, asked for an explanation regarding the invocation 
statement. Mayor Hooks said he will later. 

City Clerk Stephanie Shaw reported the results of the municipal election held on November 2, 
2021, as certified by Alamance County and Orange County Board of Elections, to be as follows:   

FOR THE OFFICE OF CITY COUNCIL: 
Alamance County:  
Tim Bradley 882 votes 
Katie Burkholder 631 votes 
Montrena Hadley 717 votes 
Charles Lopez 616 votes 
Roger Parker 348 votes 
Jonathan White 862 votes 

  

Orange County:  
Tim Bradley 104 votes 
Katie Burkholder   94 votes 
Montrena Hadley 136 votes 
Charles Lopez   86 votes 
Roger Parker     33 votes 
Jonathan White  88 votes

Therefore, pursuant to such tabulation, it has been determined that: Tim Bradley having received 
986 total votes from both counties, Montrena Hadley having received 853 total votes from both 
counties and Jonathan White having received 950 total votes from both counties, have been duly 
elected members of the City Council of the City of Mebane, pursuant to law, for a term of four 
years.  

Clerk Shaw administered the oath of office to Tim Bradley and Jonathan White. District Court Judge 
Larry Brown, Jr. administered the oath of office to Montrena Hadley.  

Council members Greene and Auditori stepped down from their seats and Mr. Bradley, Mrs. 
Hadley and Mr. White took their seats at the Council table.  

Mayor Hooks called for nominations for Mayor Pro-Tempore.  Ms. Philipps made a motion to 
nominate Tim Bradley, seconded by Mr. Ewing.  The motion carried unanimously.  

Mayor Hooks recognized outgoing Councilmembers Jill Auditori and Everette Greene. He read 
aloud and presented them with the following resolutions. Mayor Hooks also presented both of 



 

them with Mebane Logo brick sculptures, hand sculpted by NC artist Brad Spencer. 

RESOLUTION HONORING JILL AUDITORI  
FOR HER SERVICE TO THE CITY OF MEBANE 

Whereas, the Mayor and the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, wishes to 
acknowledge and express appreciation to Jill Auditori for her dedicated service to the citizens of 
Mebane; and 

Whereas, Jill Auditori was elected to a seat on the City Council, where she dutifully served for 12 
years from 2009 to 2021; and 

Whereas, Jill Auditori was appointed by the City Council to serve as Mayor Pro-Tem from 2019 to 
2021: and  

Whereas, Jill Auditori has volunteered numerous hours, incurred personal sacrifice, and exhibited 
outstanding community spirit in her service; and 

WHEREAS, Jill Auditori has put forth substantial effort toward improving the quality of life for the 
citizens of the City of Mebane. 

Now, therefore be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, that deep 
gratitude and sincere appreciation are expressed to Jill Auditori for his leadership and dedicated 
service to the citizens of Mebane. 

Be it further resolved, that a copy of this resolution be made part of the permanent records of the 
City of Mebane, and a copy thereof, which has been duly executed by the Mayor and City Clerk, 
be presented to Jill Auditori. 

In witness whereof, I, Ed Hooks, Mayor of the City of Mebane, have hereunto set my hand and 
caused to be affixed the official seal of the City of Mebane, this the 6th day December, 2021. 

 

RESOLUTION HONORING EVERETTE GREENE  
FOR HIS SERVICE TO THE CITY OF MEBANE 

Whereas, the Mayor and the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, wishes to 
acknowledge and express appreciation to Everette Greene for his dedicated service to the citizens 
of Mebane for 35 years; and 

Whereas, Everette Greene was elected to a seat on the City Council, where he dutifully served 
from 2005 to 2021; and 

Whereas, prior to his seat on the Council, he was chair of the City of Mebane Planning Board, 
having served in that capacity from 1986 to 2005; and 

Whereas, Everette Greene has volunteered numerous hours, incurred personal sacrifice, and 
exhibited outstanding community spirit in his service; and 

WHEREAS, Everette Greene has put forth substantial effort toward improving the quality of life for 
the citizens of the City of Mebane. 

Now, therefore be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, that deep 
gratitude and sincere appreciation are expressed to Everette Greene for his leadership and 
dedicated service to the citizens of Mebane. 

Be it further resolved, that a copy of this resolution be made part of the permanent records of the 
City of Mebane, and a copy thereof, which has been duly executed by the Mayor and Council, be 
presented to Everette Greene. 

In witness whereof, I, Ed Hooks, Mayor of the City of Mebane, have hereunto set my hand and 
caused to be affixed the official seal of the City of Mebane, this the 6th day December, 2021. 

Mr. Greene gave a few brief departing remarks thanking the citizens of Mebane for allowing him 
to serve the City of Mebane for so many years.  

Ms. Auditori expressed her gratitude to the citizens for allowing her to serve and commended her 
fellow Council members for being a wonderful group of colleagues.   



 

Applause for Mr. Greene and Ms. Auditori ensued by everyone in attendance. 

During the Public Comment Period, Carl Bradley commended the Recreation and Parks 
Department on a job well done on the Christmas parade. He then expressed a concern with the 
lack of lighting at the entrance to the Mebane Community Park from Hwy 70. 

Mayor Hooks gave an overview of the Consent Agenda:   

a. Approval of Minutes- November 1, 2021 Regular Meeting 
b. Encroachment- 104 S. Fourth Street 
c. Final Plat- The Villas on Fifth, Phase 3A 
d. 2022 Regular Meeting and FY 2022-2023 Budget Calendar 
e. Council Meeting Procedure- Amendment- Post Covid 

 
Mr. White requested that Mayor Hooks give an explanation on what the Consent Agenda is. Mayor 
Hooks shared that the consent agenda is for items that are routine, procedural, informational and 
self-explanatory non-controversial items which do not require discussion, however, if Council 
wishes to discuss an item, they have the option to pull that item off of the consent agenda for 
further discussion. 

Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing, to approve the consent agenda as presented. 
The motion carried unanimously. 

Finance Director Daphna Schwartz presented the results of the City’s annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report for the year ending June 30, 2021 via the attached PowerPoint.  At the conclusion 
of Ms. Schwartz’s presentation, Mayor Hooks announced that the Government Finance Officers 
Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to 
the City of Mebane for its comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2020.  He commended Ms. Schwartz and her staff in the Finance Department.  

Patricia Rhodes, Auditor with Stout Stuart McGowen & King LLP, also gave a presentation 
regarding the audit via the attached PowerPoint.  Ms. Rhodes stated Mebane received an 
unmodified opinion, the best and cleanest opinion that can be received.  She shared a comparison 
of Mebane’s fund balance to similar municipalities. She concluded her presentation by thanking 
Council and staff for the opportunity to be the independent auditor for the Mebane.   

Mr. Boney requested that Mayor Hooks address his previous question regarding the statement 
about no longer having an invocation at the beginning of the meetings.  Mayor Hooks stated that 
Council received an email from a non-profit organization, Freedom from Religion Foundation, 
warning the Council that they were in violation of the law.  Mayor Hooks said after discussing the 
matter with legal counsel, they decided they would no longer have invocation at the beginning of 
the meetings.  Mr. Boney questioned if the moment of silence is in lieu of the invocation.  Mr. 
Boney then questioned what aspect was viewed as being illegal as it was his understanding the 
that Fourth Circuit courts had ruled that the very type of innovation that this Council dealt with in 
which it was rotating among members of the Council, not outside religious figures, had been in 
fact upheld.  Mr. Brown stated that he would disagree with Mr. Boney as the issue is that there is 
no diversity in the prayer. Mr. Boney stated he is unaware of any requirement regarding the 
invocation in the manner in which the Mayor described. Mr. Brown said they he and Mr. Boney 
could discuss independent of the current debate. After more discussion, Mr. Boney shared his 
opinion, stating that this item was not on the agenda and no notice was given of such action, the 
statement was just unilaterally stated at the beginning of the meeting and he feels this is not a 
wise way to proceed on this issue or any other issue. 

Ms. Philipps made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing, to accept the Financial Report as presented. 
The motion carried unanimously.  

Judge Brown stepped forward to congratulate Ms. Hadley on being the first African-American 
woman to sit on the Mebane City Council. Everyone applauded. He then congratulated Mr. White 
and thanked each member of the Council for everything they do to bring all people together.  He 
said may all the young children in attendance, and those watching from home, know that they too 
can accomplish their dreams through hard work and dedication. 

Mr. Ewing commended all the staff on a wonderful, successful Christmas parade event. 



 

Mayor Hooks announced an upcoming UDO Update Information Session and Open House that will 
be held on December 13th.  

Mr. Rollins shared a reminder about the Mebane Downtown Exterior Improvements Grant. 

Mayor Hooks concluded the announcements with a reminder about the upcoming holiday closings 
for City offices. 

Mr. Bradley recognized and commended the finance staff for their hard work.  Mr. Rollins then 
recognized and commended all of the City’s Department Heads for staying on budget and all of 
the hard work put in everyday. 

 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 6:45pm. 
 
 
Attest: ________________________    ______________________ 
            Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk    Ed Hooks, Mayor 
 



Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report

For the year ended June 30, 2021

Daphna Schwartz
Finance Director



Agenda

• Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) Highlights
• Governmental Funds
• Water and Sewer Funds
• Capital Reserve Fund
• Capital Projects
• Debt Portfolio



ACFR Highlights

• “Clean” Audit Opinion
• Assets exceeded liabilities by $118,247,835 (net position)
• Total net position increased by $7,945,001 from the prior year
• Combined ending fund balances of $16,414,129, an increase of 

$1,458,652 over the prior year



Governmental Funds
• Overall, revenues came in higher 

than budgeted:
• Sales Tax  
• Cares Act Award 
• Planning and inspection fees
• Sanitation User fees
• Miscellaneous grants
• Investment earnings

• Overall, expenditures came in 
lower than budgeted:

• Retirements and lapsed salaries
• Capital project delays
• Did not take on anticipated debt

• Fund balance increased

Governmental Funds - FY21 Results Amended Budget FY21 Actuals % of Collected/Spent
Property Taxes 11,036,912$        11,339,347$        103%
Unrestricted Intergovernmental 5,120,543$           6,101,360$          119%
Restricted Intergovernmental 886,000$              1,154,666$          130%
Permits and Fees 881,798$              1,338,035$          152%
Sales and Services 570,450$              616,526$              108%
Miscellaneous 147,600$              251,884$              171%
Other taxes and licenses 1,000$                   955$                       96%
Restricted Special Revenue -$                        14,300$                 
Investment earnings 20,000$                 52,436$                 262%
Operating Revenues 18,664,303$        20,869,509$        112%
Debt Proceeds 1,939,070$           430,500$              22%
Fund Balance Appropriated 3,747,641$           -$                        0%
Total Revenues 24,351,014.00$  21,300,009.00$  

Personnel & Benefits 12,700,797$        10,252,428$        81%
Operating Expenses 6,107,542$           6,452,803$          106%
Capital Expenses 3,753,012$           1,600,571$          43%
Debt Payments 1,699,663$           1,450,732$          85%
Transfers 90,000$                 84,823$                 94%
Total Expenses 24,351,014$        19,841,357$        81%
Net Gain/(Loss) 1,458,652$          


Governmental Funds

		Fiscal Year 2020-2021

		Governmental Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Property Taxes		$   11,036,912		$   11,339,347		103%

		Unrestricted Intergovernmental		$   5,120,543		$   6,101,360		119%				Increase is due to sales tax which came in 19% higher than budgeted $801,057

		Restricted Intergovernmental		$   886,000		$   1,154,666		130%				Increase primarily due to the Cares Act Award for 187,904 that was not budgeted.		ABC law enforce 18,978 ABC Sur 13,270, state fire contribution 13,184, fed equitable sharing 18,880, Cares Act Award $187904																														ERROR:#VALUE!

		Permits and Fees		$   881,798		$   1,338,035		152%				Almost across the board all inspection and planning fees came in higher than budgeted with inspection fees coming in 66% higher than budgeted.

		Sales and Services		$   570,450		$   616,526		108%				Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous		$   147,600		$   251,884		171%				Due to several small miscellaneous grants totaling $34,570 came in.

		Other taxes and licenses		$   1,000		$   955		96%

		Restricted Special Revenue 		$   - 0		$   14,300						Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund

		Investment earnings		$   20,000		$   52,436		262%				Earnings were better than anticipated.

		Operating Revenues		$   18,664,303		$   20,869,509		112%

		Debt Proceeds		$   1,939,070		$   430,500		22%				Debt for the Holt Street Greenway was included in the original budget, but the project was put on hold 

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   3,747,641		$   - 0		0%

		Total Revenues		$   24,351,014.00		$   21,300,009.00



		Personnel & Benefits		$   12,700,797		$   10,252,428		81%				Lapsed salaries.

		Operating Expenses		$   6,107,542		$   6,452,803		106%				Maintenance

		Capital Expenses		$   3,753,012		$   1,600,571		43%				Delays

		Debt Payments		$   1,699,663		$   1,450,732		85%				Did not take on as much debt as anticipated.

		Transfers		$   90,000		$   84,823		94%				Cates Farm Park Project Ordinance

		Total Expenses		$   24,351,014		$   19,841,357		81%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   1,458,652









		Unrestricted Intergovernmental

tc={E303B96F-9DA2-4093-B100-FF5FB31FF890}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Sales Taxes, Utility Franchise, Contracted tax sharing, Video Programming, Telecom, Beer and Wine, ABC

		Restricted Intergovernmental

tc={6438D42E-086B-4ABA-BEB0-58D35EB9BD18}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Powell Bill, State Fire Contr. Solid Waste Disposal, ABC Surcharge, ABC Law Enforcement, OC Library, OC Rec, Efland Fire District, Fed Equitable Sharing, misc grants

		Permits and Fees

		Sales and Services

tc={6A2C4E40-0C71-48CA-A885-F938F361C828}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous

		Other taxes and licenses

tc={609B2F9C-32A4-4FAF-8483-95B6D334714F}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    ABC license fees

		

tc={E303B96F-9DA2-4093-B100-FF5FB31FF890}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Sales Taxes, Utility Franchise, Contracted tax sharing, Video Programming, Telecom, Beer and Wine, ABC		

tc={6438D42E-086B-4ABA-BEB0-58D35EB9BD18}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Powell Bill, State Fire Contr. Solid Waste Disposal, ABC Surcharge, ABC Law Enforcement, OC Library, OC Rec, Efland Fire District, Fed Equitable Sharing, misc grants



Water and Sewer Funds

		Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for services		$   5,933,600		$   6,828,761		115%		Water and sewer charges and taps

		Other operating revenues		$   690,034		$   748,941		109%		Surplus property, development fees, fire flow test fees

		Operating revenues		$   6,623,634		$   7,577,702		114%

		Non-operating revenues		$   49,000		$   (74,065)		-151%		Revenue sharing contra and investments and interest

		Transfers 		$   175,000		$   37,846		22%

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   2,578,420		$   - 0				Excess rev over exp plus budget in cap fund

		Total Revenue		$   9,251,054		$   7,541,483		82%



		Personnel & Benefits		$   2,679,929		$   2,356,060		88%

		Operating Expenses		$   3,524,145		$   2,822,855		80%

		Capital Expenses		$   1,898,054		$   1,073,284		57%

		Debt Payments		$   1,148,926		$   849,724		74%

		Total Expenses		$   9,251,054		$   7,101,923		77%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   439,560





















Capital Reserve Fund

		System Development 
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for Services		$   650,000		$   1,527,703		235%

		Other nonoperating revenues		$   2,500		$   4,595		184%		Interest and investment earnings

		Total Revenues		$   652,500		$   1,532,298		235%



		Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds		$   652,500		$   37,846		6%

		Net Gain/Loss				$   1,494,452



























Cates Farm Park

		Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent



		Cates Farm Park

		Transfer from General Fund		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Expenditures		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Fund Balance				$   - 0



		WRRF Renovation 

		Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund		$   583,000.00		$   583,000.00		100%

		Debt Proceeds		$   6,761,176.00		$   - 0		0%

		Total financing sources		$   7,344,176.00		$   583,000.00		8%

		Total Expenditures		$   7,344,176.00		$   555,285.00		8%

		Fund Balance				$   27,715.00

















Water and Sewer Funds
• Overall, operating 

revenues came in higher 
than budgeted due to 
growth.

• Overall, expenditures 
came in lower than 
budgeted. 

• Revenue bond debt was 
delayed until FY22.

• Capital projects were 
delayed.

Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results Amended BudFY21 Actuals % of Collected/Spent
Charges for services 5,933,600$  6,828,761$  115%
Other operating revenues 690,034$     748,941$     109%
Operating revenues 6,623,634$ 7,577,702$ 114%
Non-operating revenues 49,000$       (74,065)$      -151%
Transfers 175,000$     37,846$       22%
Fund Balance Appropriated 2,578,420$  -$              
Total Revenue 9,251,054$ 7,541,483$ 82%

Personnel & Benefits 2,679,929$  2,356,060$  88%
Operating Expenses 3,524,145$  2,822,855$  80%
Capital Expenses 1,898,054$  1,073,284$  57%
Debt Payments 1,148,926$  849,724$     74%
Total Expenses 9,251,054$ 7,101,923$ 77%
Net Gain/(Loss) 439,560$     


Governmental Funds

		Fiscal Year 2020-2021

		Governmental Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Property Taxes		$   11,036,912.00		$   11,339,347.00		103%

		Unrestricted Intergovernmental		$   5,120,543		$   6,101,360		119%				Increase is due to sales tax which came in 19% higher than budgeted $801,057

		Restricted Intergovernmental		$   886,000		$   1,154,666		130%				Increase primarily due to the Cares Act Award for 187,904 that was not budgeted.		ABC law enforce 18,978 ABC Sur 13,270, state fire contribution 13,184, fed equitable sharing 18,880, Cares Act Award $187904																														ERROR:#VALUE!

		Permits and Fees		$   881,798		$   1,338,035		152%				Almost across the board all inspection and planning fees came in higher than budgeted with inspection fees coming in 66% higher than budgeted.

		Sales and Services		$   570,450		$   616,526		108%				Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous		$   147,600		$   251,884		171%				Due to several small miscellaneous grants totaling $34,570 came in.

		Other taxes and licenses		$   1,000		$   955		96%

		Restricted Special Revenue 		$   - 0		$   14,300						Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund

		Investment earnings		$   20,000		$   52,436		262%				Earnings were better than anticipated.

		Operating Revenues		$   18,664,303		$   20,869,509		112%

		Debt Proceeds		$   1,939,070		$   430,500		22%				Debt for the Holt Street Greenway was included in the original budget, but the project was put on hold 

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   3,747,641		$   - 0		0%

		Total Revenues		$   24,351,014.00		$   21,300,009.00



		Personnel & Benefits		$   12,700,797		$   10,252,428		81%				Lapsed salaries.

		Operating Expenses		$   6,107,542		$   6,452,803		106%				Maintenance

		Capital Expenses		$   3,753,012		$   1,600,571		43%				Delays

		Debt Payments		$   1,699,663		$   1,450,732		85%				Did not take on as much debt as anticipated.

		Transfers		$   90,000		$   84,823		94%				Cates Farm Park Project Ordinance

		Total Expenses		$   24,351,014		$   19,841,357		81%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   1,458,652









		Unrestricted Intergovernmental

tc={E303B96F-9DA2-4093-B100-FF5FB31FF890}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Sales Taxes, Utility Franchise, Contracted tax sharing, Video Programming, Telecom, Beer and Wine, ABC

		Restricted Intergovernmental

tc={6438D42E-086B-4ABA-BEB0-58D35EB9BD18}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Powell Bill, State Fire Contr. Solid Waste Disposal, ABC Surcharge, ABC Law Enforcement, OC Library, OC Rec, Efland Fire District, Fed Equitable Sharing, misc grants

		Permits and Fees

		Sales and Services

tc={6A2C4E40-0C71-48CA-A885-F938F361C828}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous

		Other taxes and licenses

tc={609B2F9C-32A4-4FAF-8483-95B6D334714F}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    ABC license fees

		

tc={E303B96F-9DA2-4093-B100-FF5FB31FF890}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Sales Taxes, Utility Franchise, Contracted tax sharing, Video Programming, Telecom, Beer and Wine, ABC		

tc={6438D42E-086B-4ABA-BEB0-58D35EB9BD18}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Powell Bill, State Fire Contr. Solid Waste Disposal, ABC Surcharge, ABC Law Enforcement, OC Library, OC Rec, Efland Fire District, Fed Equitable Sharing, misc grants



Water and Sewer Funds

		Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for services		$   5,933,600		$   6,828,761		115%		Water and sewer charges and taps

		Other operating revenues		$   690,034		$   748,941		109%		Surplus property, development fees, fire flow test fees

		Operating revenues		$   6,623,634		$   7,577,702		114%

		Non-operating revenues		$   49,000		$   (74,065)		-151%		Revenue sharing contra and investments and interest

		Transfers 		$   175,000		$   37,846		22%

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   2,578,420		$   - 0				Excess rev over exp plus budget in cap fund

		Total Revenue		$   9,251,054		$   7,541,483		82%



		Personnel & Benefits		$   2,679,929		$   2,356,060		88%

		Operating Expenses		$   3,524,145		$   2,822,855		80%

		Capital Expenses		$   1,898,054		$   1,073,284		57%

		Debt Payments		$   1,148,926		$   849,724		74%

		Total Expenses		$   9,251,054		$   7,101,923		77%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   439,560





















Capital Reserve Fund

		System Development 
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for Services		$   650,000		$   1,527,703		235%

		Other nonoperating revenues		$   2,500		$   4,595		184%		Interest and investment earnings

		Total Revenues		$   652,500		$   1,532,298		235%



		Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds		$   652,500		$   37,846		6%

		Net Gain/Loss				$   1,494,452



























Cates Farm Park

		Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent



		Cates Farm Park

		Transfer from General Fund		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Expenditures		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Fund Balance				$   - 0



		WRRF Renovation 

		Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund		$   583,000.00		$   583,000.00		100%

		Debt Proceeds		$   6,761,176.00		$   - 0		0%

		Total financing sources		$   7,344,176.00		$   583,000.00		8%

		Total Expenditures		$   7,344,176.00		$   555,285.00		8%

		Fund Balance				$   27,715.00

















System Development Capital Reserve Fund

• Revenues came in higher 
than budgeted due to 
growth.

• Transfers were lower than 
expected due to higher 
revenues in the Water and 
Sewer Funds.

• Statutorily, the use of 
system development fees 
are restricted. In general, 
the fees can be used to 
fund future water or 
sewer capital projects.

System Development 
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results Amended Budget FY21 Actuals % of Collected/Spent
Charges for Services 650,000$             1,527,703$  235%
Other nonoperating revenues 2,500$                  4,595$         184%
Total Revenues 652,500$             1,532,298$ 235%

Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds 652,500$             37,846$       6%
Net Gain/Loss 1,494,452$ 


Governmental Funds

		Fiscal Year 2020-2021

		Governmental Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Property Taxes		$   11,036,912.00		$   11,339,347.00		103%

		Unrestricted Intergovernmental		$   5,120,543		$   6,101,360		119%				Increase is due to sales tax which came in 19% higher than budgeted $801,057

		Restricted Intergovernmental		$   886,000		$   1,154,666		130%				Increase primarily due to the Cares Act Award for 187,904 that was not budgeted.		ABC law enforce 18,978 ABC Sur 13,270, state fire contribution 13,184, fed equitable sharing 18,880, Cares Act Award $187904																														ERROR:#VALUE!

		Permits and Fees		$   881,798		$   1,338,035		152%				Almost across the board all inspection and planning fees came in higher than budgeted with inspection fees coming in 66% higher than budgeted.

		Sales and Services		$   570,450		$   616,526		108%				Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous		$   147,600		$   251,884		171%				Due to several small miscellaneous grants totaling $34,570 came in.

		Other taxes and licenses		$   1,000		$   955		96%

		Restricted Special Revenue 		$   - 0		$   14,300						Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund

		Investment earnings		$   20,000		$   52,436		262%				Earnings were better than anticipated.

		Operating Revenues		$   18,664,303		$   20,869,509		112%

		Debt Proceeds		$   1,939,070		$   430,500		22%				Debt for the Holt Street Greenway was included in the original budget, but the project was put on hold 

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   3,747,641		$   - 0		0%

		Total Revenues		$   24,351,014.00		$   21,300,009.00



		Personnel & Benefits		$   12,700,797		$   10,252,428		81%				Lapsed salaries.

		Operating Expenses		$   6,107,542		$   6,452,803		106%				Maintenance

		Capital Expenses		$   3,753,012		$   1,600,571		43%				Delays

		Debt Payments		$   1,699,663		$   1,450,732		85%				Did not take on as much debt as anticipated.

		Transfers		$   90,000		$   84,823		94%				Cates Farm Park Project Ordinance

		Total Expenses		$   24,351,014		$   19,841,357		81%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   1,458,652









		Unrestricted Intergovernmental

tc={E303B96F-9DA2-4093-B100-FF5FB31FF890}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Sales Taxes, Utility Franchise, Contracted tax sharing, Video Programming, Telecom, Beer and Wine, ABC

		Restricted Intergovernmental

tc={6438D42E-086B-4ABA-BEB0-58D35EB9BD18}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Powell Bill, State Fire Contr. Solid Waste Disposal, ABC Surcharge, ABC Law Enforcement, OC Library, OC Rec, Efland Fire District, Fed Equitable Sharing, misc grants

		Permits and Fees

		Sales and Services

tc={6A2C4E40-0C71-48CA-A885-F938F361C828}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous

		Other taxes and licenses

tc={609B2F9C-32A4-4FAF-8483-95B6D334714F}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    ABC license fees

		

tc={E303B96F-9DA2-4093-B100-FF5FB31FF890}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Sales Taxes, Utility Franchise, Contracted tax sharing, Video Programming, Telecom, Beer and Wine, ABC		

tc={6438D42E-086B-4ABA-BEB0-58D35EB9BD18}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Powell Bill, State Fire Contr. Solid Waste Disposal, ABC Surcharge, ABC Law Enforcement, OC Library, OC Rec, Efland Fire District, Fed Equitable Sharing, misc grants



Water and Sewer Funds

		Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for services		$   5,933,600		$   6,828,761		115%		Water and sewer charges and taps

		Other operating revenues		$   690,034		$   748,941		109%		Surplus property, development fees, fire flow test fees

		Operating revenues		$   6,623,634		$   7,577,702		114%

		Non-operating revenues		$   49,000		$   (74,065)		-151%		Revenue sharing contra and investments and interest

		Transfers 		$   175,000		$   37,846		22%

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   2,578,420		$   - 0				Excess rev over exp plus budget in cap fund

		Total Revenue		$   9,251,054		$   7,541,483		82%



		Personnel & Benefits		$   2,679,929		$   2,356,060		88%

		Operating Expenses		$   3,524,145		$   2,822,855		80%

		Capital Expenses		$   1,898,054		$   1,073,284		57%

		Debt Payments		$   1,148,926		$   849,724		74%

		Total Expenses		$   9,251,054		$   7,101,923		77%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   439,560





















Capital Reserve Fund

		System Development 
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for Services		$   650,000		$   1,527,703		235%

		Other nonoperating revenues		$   2,500		$   4,595		184%		Interest and investment earnings

		Total Revenues		$   652,500		$   1,532,298		235%



		Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds		$   652,500		$   37,846		6%

		Net Gain/Loss				$   1,494,452



























Cates Farm Park

		Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent



		Cates Farm Park

		Transfer from General Fund		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Expenditures		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Fund Balance				$   - 0



		WRRF Renovation 

		Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund		$   583,000.00		$   583,000.00		100%

		Debt Proceeds		$   6,761,176.00		$   - 0		0%

		Total financing sources		$   7,344,176.00		$   583,000.00		8%

		Total Expenditures		$   7,344,176.00		$   555,285.00		8%

		Fund Balance				$   27,715.00

















Capital Projects
Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results Amended Budge FY21 Actuals % of Collected/Spent

Cates Farm Park
Transfer from General Fund 680,961.00$     84,823.00$    12%
Expenditures 680,961.00$     84,823.00$    12%
Fund Balance -$               

WRRF Renovation 
Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund 583,000.00$     583,000.00$ 100%
Debt Proceeds 6,761,176.00$ -$               0%
Total financing sources 7,344,176.00$ 583,000.00$ 8%
Total Expenditures 7,344,176.00$ 555,285.00$ 8%
Fund Balance 27,715.00$    


Governmental Funds

		Fiscal Year 2020-2021

		Governmental Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Property Taxes		$   11,036,912.00		$   11,339,347.00		103%

		Unrestricted Intergovernmental		$   5,120,543		$   6,101,360		119%				Increase is due to sales tax which came in 19% higher than budgeted $801,057

		Restricted Intergovernmental		$   886,000		$   1,154,666		130%				Increase primarily due to the Cares Act Award for 187,904 that was not budgeted.		ABC law enforce 18,978 ABC Sur 13,270, state fire contribution 13,184, fed equitable sharing 18,880, Cares Act Award $187904																														ERROR:#VALUE!

		Permits and Fees		$   881,798		$   1,338,035		152%				Almost across the board all inspection and planning fees came in higher than budgeted with inspection fees coming in 66% higher than budgeted.

		Sales and Services		$   570,450		$   616,526		108%				Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous		$   147,600		$   251,884		171%				Due to several small miscellaneous grants totaling $34,570 came in.

		Other taxes and licenses		$   1,000		$   955		96%

		Restricted Special Revenue 		$   - 0		$   14,300						Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund

		Investment earnings		$   20,000		$   52,436		262%				Earnings were better than anticipated.

		Operating Revenues		$   18,664,303		$   20,869,509		112%

		Debt Proceeds		$   1,939,070		$   430,500		22%				Debt for the Holt Street Greenway was included in the original budget, but the project was put on hold 

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   3,747,641		$   - 0		0%

		Total Revenues		$   24,351,014.00		$   21,300,009.00



		Personnel & Benefits		$   12,700,797		$   10,252,428		81%				Lapsed salaries.

		Operating Expenses		$   6,107,542		$   6,452,803		106%				Maintenance

		Capital Expenses		$   3,753,012		$   1,600,571		43%				Delays

		Debt Payments		$   1,699,663		$   1,450,732		85%				Did not take on as much debt as anticipated.

		Transfers		$   90,000		$   84,823		94%				Cates Farm Park Project Ordinance

		Total Expenses		$   24,351,014		$   19,841,357		81%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   1,458,652









		Unrestricted Intergovernmental

tc={E303B96F-9DA2-4093-B100-FF5FB31FF890}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Sales Taxes, Utility Franchise, Contracted tax sharing, Video Programming, Telecom, Beer and Wine, ABC

		Restricted Intergovernmental

tc={6438D42E-086B-4ABA-BEB0-58D35EB9BD18}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Powell Bill, State Fire Contr. Solid Waste Disposal, ABC Surcharge, ABC Law Enforcement, OC Library, OC Rec, Efland Fire District, Fed Equitable Sharing, misc grants

		Permits and Fees

		Sales and Services

tc={6A2C4E40-0C71-48CA-A885-F938F361C828}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous

		Other taxes and licenses

tc={609B2F9C-32A4-4FAF-8483-95B6D334714F}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    ABC license fees

		

tc={E303B96F-9DA2-4093-B100-FF5FB31FF890}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Sales Taxes, Utility Franchise, Contracted tax sharing, Video Programming, Telecom, Beer and Wine, ABC		

tc={6438D42E-086B-4ABA-BEB0-58D35EB9BD18}: [Threaded comment]

Your version of Excel allows you to read this threaded comment; however, any edits to it will get removed if the file is opened in a newer version of Excel. Learn more: https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?linkid=870924

Comment:
    Powell Bill, State Fire Contr. Solid Waste Disposal, ABC Surcharge, ABC Law Enforcement, OC Library, OC Rec, Efland Fire District, Fed Equitable Sharing, misc grants



Water and Sewer Funds

		Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for services		$   5,933,600		$   6,828,761		115%		Water and sewer charges and taps

		Other operating revenues		$   690,034		$   748,941		109%		Surplus property, development fees, fire flow test fees

		Operating revenues		$   6,623,634		$   7,577,702		114%

		Non-operating revenues		$   49,000		$   (74,065)		-151%		Revenue sharing contra and investments and interest

		Transfers 		$   175,000		$   37,846		22%

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   2,578,420		$   - 0				Excess rev over exp plus budget in cap fund

		Total Revenue		$   9,251,054		$   7,541,483		82%



		Personnel & Benefits		$   2,679,929		$   2,356,060		88%

		Operating Expenses		$   3,524,145		$   2,822,855		80%

		Capital Expenses		$   1,898,054		$   1,073,284		57%

		Debt Payments		$   1,148,926		$   849,724		74%

		Total Expenses		$   9,251,054		$   7,101,923		77%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   439,560





















Capital Reserve Fund

		System Development 
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for Services		$   650,000		$   1,527,703		235%

		Other nonoperating revenues		$   2,500		$   4,595		184%		Interest and investment earnings

		Total Revenues		$   652,500		$   1,532,298		235%



		Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds		$   652,500		$   37,846		6%

		Net Gain/Loss				$   1,494,452



























Cates Farm Park

		Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent



		Cates Farm Park

		Transfer from General Fund		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Expenditures		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Fund Balance				$   - 0



		WRRF Renovation 

		Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund		$   583,000.00		$   583,000.00		100%

		Debt Proceeds		$   6,761,176.00		$   - 0		0%

		Total financing sources		$   7,344,176.00		$   583,000.00		8%

		Total Expenditures		$   7,344,176.00		$   555,285.00		8%

		Fund Balance				$   27,715.00

















Debt Portfolio

• Debt Portfolio remains well within 
legal limits

• Governmental Activities $7.5 M

• Business-Type Activities $3.2M

• FY20 General Fund issued 
$430,500 of debt for rolling stock



Thank you
The 6/30/21 ACFR is available on the City’s website at the following link:

www.cityofmebane.gov/city-financial-information/

Daphna Schwartz
Finance Director

Daphna.Schwartz@cityofmebane.com



AUDIT PRESENTATION 
TO THE CITY COUNCIL

For Year Ended June 30, 2021

December 6, 2021



AUDIT HIGHLIGHTS

 Mebane’s 11th Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report 

 Unmodified Opinion
 An Audit is:

→ Consideration of the system used to capture financial data
→ Consideration of the Internal Controls
→ Testing of Internal Controls

 Internal Control – No Findings



COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

A Comparison of Fund Balance to 
Similar Municipalities  (based on most recently 

available statistics)

% of General
Fund Net   

Expenditures
Unassigned Fund to Fund 

Population Balance Balance
City of Mebane 17,797 10,332,231 50.63%
Belmont 15,010 3,976,994 29.42%
Elon 11,336 7,248,318 102.20%
Graham 17,157 9,138,317 66.00%
Fuquay Varina 34,152 18,533,498 59.80%
Hillsborough 9,660 6,438,825 59.96%



Thank You to the Mebane City Council, 
Chris Rollins, Preston Mitchell, Daphna 

Schwartz, and their staff



 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #4B 
Final Subdivision Plat – 
Havenstone, Phase 1C 

Presenter 
Cy Stober, Development Director 

Applicant 
Lebanon Road Partners, LLC,  
504 Meadowland Drive 
Hillsborough, NC 27278 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Final Plat  

 

Property 
Havenstone, Phase 1, Orange 
County 

GPIN 9825899617 

Proposed Zoning 
N/A 

Current Zoning 
R-10 

Size 
+/-11.118 acres 

Surrounding Zoning 
R-20, R-10, B-3; AR (Orange Co.) 

Surrounding Land Uses 
Residential, Neighborhood 
Business, Vacant 

Utilities 
Extended at developer’s 
expense. 

Floodplain 
No 

Watershed 
Yes 

City Limits 
Yes  



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Summary 
Lebanon Road, LLC, is requesting approval of the Final Plat for Phase 1C of the Havenstone Subdivision 
(approved for rezoning and special use by City Council as “Northeast Village, Phase 1” 12/04/17)).  The Final 
Plat will include a total area of +/-11.118 acres; featuring 29 lots of +/-4.899 acres, +/-4.799 acres of open 
space primarily featuring undisturbed perimeter areas, and +/-1.420 acres of dedicated right of way. This 
is the final major subdivision phase of both Phases 1 and 2 of Havenstone. All utilities, amenities, and 
easements are dedicated and either constructed or guaranteed with an acceptable surety. 

The Technical Review Committee (TRC) has reviewed the Final Plat and the applicant has revised the plan 
to reflect its comments.  All infrastructure must be completed and approved to meet the City of Mebane 
Specifications.  All infrastructure not completed shall be bonded or a letter of credit provided prior to 
recordation. 

Financial Impact 
The developer has extended utilities at his own expense.   

Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the Final Plat. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to approve the final plat as presented.   

Attachments 
1. Final Plat  

 
 



Lic
en

se
 #:

 P-
03

39
32

0 E
xe

cu
tiv

e C
ou

rt
Hi

lls
bo

ro
ug

h, 
NC

 27
27

8-
85

51
Vo

ice
: (

91
9)

 73
2-

38
83

   F
ax

: (
91

9)
 73

2-
66

76
ww

w.
su

mm
itd

e.n
et

N:\
20

17\
17-

03
85

 NE
 Vi

lla
ge

\S
urv

ey\
Su

rve
y\D

WG
_SU

RV
EY

\17
-0

38
5_

PH
1C

.dw
g  

 24
x3

6 S
ht 

1   
12

/2
1/2

02
1 1

:43
 PM

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
S

D
A

T
E

B
Y

1

234567

S
U

R
V

E
Y

E
D

 
B

Y
:
 
 
T

D

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:
 
 
M

J
P

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
:
 
 
P

K

DR
AW

ING
 AL

TE
RA

TIO
N

IT 
IS 

A V
IOL

AT
ION

 OF
 LA

W 
FO

R A
NY

 PE
RS

ON
,  U

NL
ES

S
AC

TIN
G U

ND
ER

 TH
E D

IRE
CT

ION
 OF

 LI
CE

NS
ED

AR
CH

ITE
CT

, P
RO

FES
SIO

NA
L E

NG
INE

ER
,  L

AN
DS

CA
PE

AR
CH

ITE
CT

,   
OR

 LA
ND

 SU
RV

EY
OR

 TO
 AL

TE
R A

NY
 IT

EM
ON

 TH
IS 

DO
CU

ME
NT

 IN
 AN

Y W
AY

. A
NY

 LI
CE

NS
EE

 W
HO

AL
TE

RS
 TH

IS 
DO

CU
ME

NT
 IS

 RE
QU

IRE
D B

Y L
AW

 TO
AF

FIX
 HI

S O
R H

ER
 SE

AL
 AN

D T
HE

 NO
TA

TIO
N "

AL
TE

RE
D

BY
" F

OL
LO

WE
D B

Y H
IS 

OR
 HE

R S
IGN

AT
UR

E A
ND

SP
EC

IFI
C D

ES
CR

IPT
ION

 OF
 TH

E A
LT

ER
AT

ION
S.

CO
PY

RI
GH

T ©
 2

02
1

SU
MM

IT 
DE

SI
GN

 A
ND

EN
GI

NE
ER

IN
G 

SE
RV

IC
ES

FI
N

A
L

  P
L

A
T

  O
F

H
A

V
E

N
ST

O
N

E
 -

 P
H

A
SE

 1
C

C
H

E
E

K
S 

T
W

P.
,O

R
A

N
G

E
 C

O
., 

 N
O

R
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
M

E
B

A
N

E
PR

O
PE

R
T

Y
 A

S 
D

E
SC

R
IB

E
D

 I
N

 D
E

E
D

 B
O

O
K

 6
62

7 
   

PA
G

E
  2

02
4

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 I
N

 T
H

E
 N

A
M

E
 O

F
L

E
B

A
N

O
N

 R
O

A
D

 L
L

C
, 3

20
 E

X
E

C
U

T
IV

E
 C

T
.,

H
IL

L
SB

O
R

O
U

G
H

, N
C

 2
72

78
, P

H
# 

91
9-

73
2-

38
83

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 
 
B

Y
:
 
 
R

H

S
U

R
V

E
Y

 
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 
M

A
N

A
G

E
R

:
 
R

H

CERTIFICATE OF OWNERSHIP AND DEDICATION

 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

ORANGE COUNTY

SITE SUMMARY

1 inch =           ft.

GRAPHIC SCALE

( IN FEET )
500

PRELIMINARY PLAT 

CERTIFICATE OF PURPOSE OF PLAT

PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY WATERSHED

STATEMENT

‘

’

CERTIFICATE OF FINAL MAJOR SUBDIVISION

PLAT APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE OF

DEDICATION

CERTIFICATE OF OF SURVEY AND ACCURACY

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL FOR RECORDING  IN

PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY WATERSHED

SHEET  1  OF 3 

DRAWING NO.

PROJECT NO.

17-0385

17-0385-PH1C



BURNIN
G M

APLE LN.

HEARTPINE DR.

EXISTING 50' PUBLIC R/W

H

E

A

R

T

P

I

N

E

 

D

R

.

N

E

W

 

5

0

'
 

P

U

B

L

I

C

 

R

/

W

G
O

P
H

E
R

W
O

O
D

 
L

N
.

N
E

W
 
5

0
'
 
P

U
B

L
I
C

 
R

/
W

BURNING MAPLE LN.

EXISTING 50' PUBLIC R/W

K
N

O
T

T
Y

 
P

I
N

E
 
D

R
.

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
5

0
'
 
P

U
B

L
I
C

 
R

/
W

H
E

A
R

T
P

I
N

E
 
D

R
.

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
5

0
'
 
P

U
B

L
I
C

 
R

/
W

POND

L
E

B
A

N
O

N
 
R

O
A

D

6
0
'
 
E

X
I
S

T
I
N

G
 
P

U
B

L
I
C

 
R

/
W

LEBANON RD.

S.R.1306 (60' PUBLIC R/W)

Lic
en

se
 #:

 P-
03

39
32

0 E
xe

cu
tiv

e C
ou

rt
Hi

lls
bo

ro
ug

h, 
NC

 27
27

8-
85

51
Vo

ice
: (

91
9)

 73
2-

38
83

   F
ax

: (
91

9)
 73

2-
66

76
ww

w.
su

mm
itd

e.n
et

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
S

D
A

T
E

B
Y

1

234567

DR
AW

ING
 AL

TE
RA

TIO
N

IT 
IS 

A V
IOL

AT
ION

 OF
 LA

W 
FO

R A
NY

 PE
RS

ON
,  U

NL
ES

S
AC

TIN
G U

ND
ER

 TH
E D

IRE
CT

ION
 OF

 LI
CE

NS
ED

AR
CH

ITE
CT

, P
RO

FES
SIO

NA
L E

NG
INE

ER
,  L

AN
DS

CA
PE

AR
CH

ITE
CT

,   
OR

 LA
ND

 SU
RV

EY
OR

 TO
 AL

TE
R A

NY
 IT

EM
ON

 TH
IS 

DO
CU

ME
NT

 IN
 AN

Y W
AY

. A
NY

 LI
CE

NS
EE

 W
HO

AL
TE

RS
 TH

IS 
DO

CU
ME

NT
 IS

 RE
QU

IRE
D B

Y L
AW

 TO
AF

FIX
 HI

S O
R H

ER
 SE

AL
 AN

D T
HE

 NO
TA

TIO
N "

AL
TE

RE
D

BY
" F

OL
LO

WE
D B

Y H
IS 

OR
 HE

R S
IGN

AT
UR

E A
ND

SP
EC

IFI
C D

ES
CR

IPT
ION

 OF
 TH

E A
LT

ER
AT

ION
S.

CO
PY

RI
GH

T ©
 2

02
1

SU
MM

IT 
DE

SI
GN

 A
ND

EN
GI

NE
ER

IN
G 

SE
RV

IC
ES

SHEET  2  OF 3 

DRAWING NO.

PROJECT NO.

17-0385-PH1C

17-0385

N:\
20

17\
17-

03
85

 NE
 Vi

lla
ge

\S
urv

ey\
Su

rve
y\D

WG
_SU

RV
EY

\17
-0

38
5_

PH
1C

.dw
g  

 24
x3

6 S
ht 

2  
 12

/2
1/2

02
1 1

:50
 PM

PRELIMINARY PLAT 

1 inch =           ft.

GRAPHIC SCALE

( IN FEET )
60

S
U

R
V

E
Y

E
D

 
B

Y
:
 
 
T

D

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:
 
 
M

J
P

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
:
 
 
P

K

FI
N

A
L

  P
L

A
T

  O
F

H
A

V
E

N
ST

O
N

E
 -

 P
H

A
SE

 1
C

C
H

E
E

K
S 

T
W

P.
,O

R
A

N
G

E
 C

O
., 

 N
O

R
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
M

E
B

A
N

E
PR

O
PE

R
T

Y
 A

S 
D

E
SC

R
IB

E
D

 I
N

 D
E

E
D

 B
O

O
K

 6
62

7 
   

PA
G

E
  2

02
4

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 I
N

 T
H

E
 N

A
M

E
 O

F
L

E
B

A
N

O
N

 R
O

A
D

 L
L

C
, 3

20
 E

X
E

C
U

T
IV

E
 C

T
.,

H
IL

L
SB

O
R

O
U

G
H

, N
C

 2
72

78
, P

H
# 

91
9-

73
2-

38
83

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 
 
B

Y
:
 
 
R

H

S
U

R
V

E
Y

 
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 
M

A
N

A
G

E
R

:
 
R

H



H

E

A

R

T

P

I

N

E

 

D

R

.

N

E

W

 

5

0

'
 

P

U

B

L

I

C

 

R

/

W

P
O

N

D

L
E

B

A

N

O

N

 
R

O

A

D

6
0
' 
E

X

I
S

T
I
N

G

 
P

U

B

L
I
C

 
R

/
W

Lic
en

se
 #:

 P-
03

39
32

0 E
xe

cu
tiv

e C
ou

rt
Hi

lls
bo

ro
ug

h, 
NC

 27
27

8-
85

51
Vo

ice
: (

91
9)

 73
2-

38
83

   F
ax

: (
91

9)
 73

2-
66

76
ww

w.
su

mm
itd

e.n
et

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
S

D
A

T
E

B
Y

1

234567

DR
AW

ING
 AL

TE
RA

TIO
N

IT 
IS 

A V
IOL

AT
ION

 OF
 LA

W 
FO

R A
NY

 PE
RS

ON
,  U

NL
ES

S
AC

TIN
G U

ND
ER

 TH
E D

IRE
CT

ION
 OF

 LI
CE

NS
ED

AR
CH

ITE
CT

, P
RO

FES
SIO

NA
L E

NG
INE

ER
,  L

AN
DS

CA
PE

AR
CH

ITE
CT

,   
OR

 LA
ND

 SU
RV

EY
OR

 TO
 AL

TE
R A

NY
 IT

EM
ON

 TH
IS 

DO
CU

ME
NT

 IN
 AN

Y W
AY

. A
NY

 LI
CE

NS
EE

 W
HO

AL
TE

RS
 TH

IS 
DO

CU
ME

NT
 IS

 RE
QU

IRE
D B

Y L
AW

 TO
AF

FIX
 HI

S O
R H

ER
 SE

AL
 AN

D T
HE

 NO
TA

TIO
N "

AL
TE

RE
D

BY
" F

OL
LO

WE
D B

Y H
IS 

OR
 HE

R S
IGN

AT
UR

E A
ND

SP
EC

IFI
C D

ES
CR

IPT
ION

 OF
 TH

E A
LT

ER
AT

ION
S.

CO
PY

RI
GH

T ©
 2

02
1

SU
MM

IT 
DE

SI
GN

 A
ND

EN
GI

NE
ER

IN
G 

SE
RV

IC
ES

PRELIMINARY PLAT 

1 inch =           ft.

GRAPHIC SCALE

( IN FEET )
30

N:\
20

17\
17-

03
85

 NE
 Vi

lla
ge

\S
urv

ey\
Su

rve
y\D

WG
_SU

RV
EY

\17
-0

38
5_

PH
1C

.dw
g  

 24
x3

6 S
ht 

3  
 12

/2
1/2

02
1 1

:43
 PM

SHEET  3  OF 3 

DRAWING NO.

PROJECT NO.

17-0385

17-0385-PH1C

H
E

A
R

T
P

I
N

E
 
D

R
.

N
E

W
 
5
0
'
 
P

U
B

L
I
C

 
R

/
W

1 inch =           ft.

GRAPHIC SCALE

( IN FEET )
30

S
U

R
V

E
Y

E
D

 
B

Y
:
 
 
T

D

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:
 
 
M

J
P

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
:
 
 
P

K

FI
N

A
L

  P
L

A
T

  O
F

H
A

V
E

N
ST

O
N

E
 -

 P
H

A
SE

 1
C

C
H

E
E

K
S 

T
W

P.
,O

R
A

N
G

E
 C

O
., 

 N
O

R
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
M

E
B

A
N

E
PR

O
PE

R
T

Y
 A

S 
D

E
SC

R
IB

E
D

 I
N

 D
E

E
D

 B
O

O
K

 6
62

7 
   

PA
G

E
  2

02
4

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 I
N

 T
H

E
 N

A
M

E
 O

F
L

E
B

A
N

O
N

 R
O

A
D

 L
L

C
, 3

20
 E

X
E

C
U

T
IV

E
 C

T
.,

H
IL

L
SB

O
R

O
U

G
H

, N
C

 2
72

78
, P

H
# 

91
9-

73
2-

38
83

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 
 
B

Y
:
 
 
R

H

S
U

R
V

E
Y

 
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 
M

A
N

A
G

E
R

:
 
R

H

L
E

B
A

N

O

N

 
R

D

.
6
0
'
 
E

X
I
S

T
I
N

G

 
P

U

B
L
I
C

 
R

/
W



 

AGENDA ITEM #4C 
Purchase Police Capital with 
Federal Equitable Funds 

Meeting Date 
January 3, 2022 

Presenter  
Terrence E. Caldwell, Chief of Police 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Police Department request Council to appropriate Federal Equitable Sharing Funds.  
 
Item 1: Two (2) Dual Purpose Police Canine’s – We are looking to reimplement Police Canines back into our 
Operations Division to be assigned to existing sworn personnel. The purchase of these canines will also 
include the four (4) week Canine Handler Course that will allow for our personnel to develop their skills and 
abilities as a police canine handler, as well as the needed equipment.  
 
Item 2: Firearms Purchase (Rifles/Shotguns/Rifle Optics) – We are looking to purchase the following firearm 
items to outfit all newer officers with a rifle, replace outdated shotguns, and equip each issued rifle with 
an optic system.  
15 Patrol Rifles – New 
20 Shotguns – Replace 
29 Optics – New and Existing 

Background 
The US Department of Justice shares the proceeds of asset forfeiture with local police departments that 
aide in their efforts. The Police Department would like to use some of the collected funds, and Council 
approval is required to appropriate the amount from fund balance 

Financial Impact 
None - All monies received were from drug related seizures and no type of match is required for the 
purchase. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the use of federal equitable funds, and approval of the attached budget 
ordinance amendment. 

Suggested Motion 
I make a motion to approve the allocation of funds for purchasing the items listed below with Federal 
Equitable Sharing Funds and the necessary budget amendment. 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Attachments 
1. Quotes  

Item(s) to be purchased –  
1. (2) Dual Purpose Canines, Equipment, Canine Handler Training, and Canine Kennels at 

Handler’s Residence – $30,755.70 

2. Firearms – (15) Smith and Wesson M-P 15 Patrol Rifles, (20) Benelli SuperNova Comfortech 
12ga Shotguns, and (29) Vortex Crossfire Red Dot Optics - $23,626.51 

2. Budget Ordinance Amendment 

 
 















Police  $          54,383  $   5,260,447 

Fund Balance Appropriation  $          54,383 3,337,265$   

This the 3rd day of January, 2022.

ARTICLE II

Current Budget Change

Current Budget
Revised 
Budget

Change

Revised 
Budget

 $         5,206,064 

 $         3,282,882 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Mebane that the Budget Ordinance for the Fiscal Year beginning
July 1 2021 as duly adopted on June 7, 2021, is hereby amended as follows:

REVENUES

ARTICLE I

APPROPRIATIONS



 

AGENDA ITEM #4D 
Sole Source Justification for 
Axon Enterprise, Inc.  

Meeting Date 
January 3, 2022 

Presenter  
Kirk Montgomery, IT Director 
Adam Cole, Police Lieutenant 
Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Per North Carolina General Statute 143-129E(6) Council approval is required for sole source informal and 
formal purchases. The City is requesting approval to use Axon Enterprise, Inc. as a sole source vendor for 
the purchase of body cameras and tasers.  

Background 
The police department is adding body cameras and replacing Compliance Tasers. This will enable the police 
department to equip their sworn officers with updated equipment and, with the program Axon provides, 
the most current equipment available for the next seven years. Sole Authorized Distributor for Taser Brand 
CEW Products. 

Financial Impact 
The contract spans over five years for a total of $374,050.  
FY 2021 $39,880.00 
FY 2022 $77,973.00 
FY 2023 $85,399.00 
FY 2024 $85,399.00 
FY 2025 $85,399.00 

Recommendation 
Recommend that the Council approve the sole source purchase of body cameras and tasers from Axon 
Enterprise, Inc.. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to approve the sole source purchase of body cameras and tasers from Axon Enterprise, Inc.. 

Attachments 
1. Justification of Sole Source Purchase  
2. Axon Enterprise, Inc. Sole Source letter 



Justification for Sole Source Purchase of Contracts
Purpose

Sole source justification provides evidence that a competitive procurement is impractical. Staff must 
request approval for the sole source procurement of equipment, construction, or supplies when a 
purchase is required to be competitive per North Carolina General Statutes. 

Statement

I am aware that the City of Mebane requires competitive procurements when required by the North 
Carolina General Statutes. I am requesting a sole source procurement based on the criteria stated 
above. These statements are complete and accurate based on my professional judgment and 
investigations.

Requestor: _Kirk Montgomery__________   Requestor Signature: ____________________________

Department: _IT/Police_______________ Budget Line: __100-5100-750________________________

Date: __12/29/21_______________________ New Vendor: No

Vendor Name: __Axon Enterprise, Inc.___ Contract Amount/Value: __$374,050.02_________________

FY 2021 $39,880
FY 2022 $77,973
FY 2023 $85,399
FY 2024 $85,399
FY 2025 $85,399

Briefly describe the equipment, construction or supplies requested, and its purpose or use:

The police department is adding body cameras and replacing Compliance Tasers. This will enable the PD 
to equip their sworn officers with updated equipment and with the program Axon provides the most 
current equipment available for the next seven years. Axon is the Sole Authorized Distributor for Taser 
Brand CEW Products.

What are the consequences or risks of not securing this equipment, construction or supplies from this 
company?

The adoption and deployment of body-worn cameras provide law enforcement agencies with several 
key opportunities and potential benefits that were previously unobtainable. Headline benefits include 
Increased public confidence and transparency. Having bodycam footage will ensure all individuals 
involved are covered in case of any incidents that may arise from a confrontation with law 
enforcement and can be utilized in court cases.  

Please see Axon Enterprises, Inc. Sole Source letter attached.

Kirk Montgomery
Digitally signed by Kirk 
Montgomery 
Date: 2021.12.29 16:13:40 -05'00'



 
 
Please provide information that supports your specific requirements necessitating a sole source 
purchase: 
Please see Axon Enterprises, Inc. Sole Source letter attached. 
  



 

Sole Source Letter for Axon Enterprise, Inc.’s Product Packages Version  19.0 

12/29/2021 

To:  United States state, local and municipal law enforcement agencies  

Re:  Sole Source Letter for Axon Enterprise, Inc.’s Product Packages 

A sole source justification exists because the following goods and services required to satisfy the agency’s needs are 
only available for purchase from Axon Enterprise.  Axon is also the sole distributor of all Axon product packages in 
the United States of America. 

Axon Product Packages 

1. Officer Safety Plan: Includes an X2 or X26P energy weapon, Axon camera and Dock upgrade, and 
Evidence.com license and storage.  See your Sales Representative for further details and Model numbers.    

2. Officer Safety Plan 7: Includes a TASER 7 energy weapon, Axon Body 3 camera, Axon Dock, Axon 
Camera and Dock upgrade, Axon Evidence (Evidence.com) licenses and storage, Axon Aware, and Axon 
Records Core. 

3. Officer Safety Plan 7 Plus: Includes a TASER 7 energy weapon, Axon Body 3 camera, Axon Evidence 
(Evidence.com) licenses and storage, Axon Records Core, Axon Aware +,  Axon Auto-Tagging Services, 
Axon Performance, Axon Citizen for Communities, Axon Redaction Assistant, and Axon Signal Sidearm. 

4. TASER 7 Basic: Pays for TASER 7 program in installments over 5 years including access to Axon Evidence 
services for energy weapon program management. 

5. TASER Assurance Plan (TAP): Hardware extended warranty coverage, Spare Products, and Upgrade 
Models available for the X2 and X26P energy weapons, and the TASER CAM HD recorder. (The TAP is 
available only through Axon Enterprise, Inc.) 

6. TASER 7 Certification: Pays for TASER 7 program in installments over 5 years including access to 
Evidence.com for energy weapon program management, annual training cartridges, unlimited duty 
cartridges and online training content.  

7. TASER Certification Add-On: Allows the agency to pay an annual fee to receive an annual allotment of 
training cartridges, unlimited duty cartridges and online training content. 

8. TASER 7 Certification with Virtual Reality (VR): Pays for the TASER 7 program in installments over 5 
years including access to Evidence.com for energy weapon program management, annual training 
cartridges, unlimited duty cartridges, online training content, and VR training. 

9. TASER 60: Pays for X2 and X26P energy weapons and Spare Products in installments over 5 years. 

10. Unlimited Cartridge Plan: Allows the agency to pay an annual fee to receive annual training cartridges, 
unlimited duty cartridges and unlimited batteries for the X2 and X26P. 

11. TASER 60 Unlimited:  Pays for X2 and X26P energy weapons and Spare Products in installments over 5 
years and receive unlimited cartridges and batteries. 

12. TASER 7 Close Quarters Dock Plan: Pays for TASER 7 Close Quarters Plan over a 5-year period in 
installments including access to Evidence.com for energy weapon program management, rechargeable 
batteries, annual cartridge shipments, unlimited duty cartridges, and access to online training. 

13. Axon Core: Pays for the TASER 7 CQ, TASER Dock, weapon Axon Evidence license, training and duty 
cartridges, Axon Body 3 camera, Professional Axon Evidence license, unlimited storage, camera hardware 
upgrade every 2.5 years, Axon Respond, Axon Signal Sidearm, Axon Fleet Signal, and auto tagging. 

14. Axon Core+: Pays for the TASER 7 energy weapon, TASER Dock, weapon Axon Evidence license, training 
and duty cartridges, Axon Body 3 camera, Professional Axon Evidence license, unlimited storage, camera 
hardware upgrade every 2.5 years, Axon Respond, Axon Signal Sidearm, Axon Fleet Signal, and auto 
tagging. 

 



Sole Source Letter for Axon Enterprise, Inc.’s Product Packages Version 19.0

15. Corrections Officer Safety Plan: Includes a TASER 7 energy weapon, Axon Body 3 Camera, Axon Dock, 
Axon Camera and Dock Upgrade, Axon Evidence Licenses and unlimited Axon storage.

16. Corrections Post OSP: Includes one TASER 7 energy weapon for every two licenses, one Axon Body 3 
Camera for every two licenses, Axon Dock, Axon Camera and Dock Upgrade, Axon Evidence Licenses and 
unlimited Axon storage for each license.

SOLE AUTHORIZED DISTRIBUTOR FOR
TASER BRAND CEW PRODUCTS 

SOLE AUTHORIZED REPAIR FACILITY FOR
TASER BRAND CEW PRODUCTS

Axon Enterprise, Inc.
17800 N. 85th Street, Scottsdale, AZ 85255

Phone: 800-978-2737
Fax: 480-991-0791

Axon Enterprise, Inc.
17800 N. 85th Street, Scottsdale, AZ 85255

Phone: 800-978-2737
Fax: 480-991-0791

Please contact your local Axon sales representative or call us at 1-800-978-2737 with any questions.

Sincerely, 

Josh Isner
Chief Revenue Officer
Axon Enterprise, Inc.
The “Axon + Delta Logo,” Axon, Axon Aware, Axon Citizen, Axon Evidence, X2, X26P, TASER, and TASER 7, are trademarks of Axon Enterprise, Inc.,
some of which are trademarks in the US and other countries. For more information visit www.axon.com/legal. All rights reserved. © 2021 Axon 
Enterprise, Inc.



 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #5A 
RZ 22-01 
Rezoning –122 S Lane St 

Presenter 
Cy Stober, Development Director  

Applicant 
Gryffindoor Properties, LLC  
PO Box 90214 
Raleigh, NC 27510 

Public Hearing 
Yes   No  

 

Zoning Map 

 

Property 
122 S Lane St 

PIN 
9825214594 

Proposed 
Zoning 
R-10 

Current 
Zoning 
R-12 

Size 
 +/- 21,780 s.f. 
(0.5-acre) 

Surrounding 
Zoning 
R-12 

Adjacent 
Land Uses 
Single-Family 
Residential  

Utilities 
Water and 
sewer present 

Floodplain 
No 

Watershed 
No 

City Limits 
City Limits 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Summary 
Gryffindoor Properties, LLC, is requesting to rezone the +/- 21,780 sf property addressed as 122 S Lane St 
(Alamance County GPIN 9825214594), from R-12 to R-10.  

The property is currently developed with a single-family home and accessory structures. The applicant is 
seeking to demolish the current structure and subdivide the property into two lots but there is not 
sufficient area for two lots to meet the R-12 minimum lot size. As shown on the sketch provided as an 
attachment, a rezoning to R-10 would meet the minimum lot area of 10,000 s.f. and minimum lot width 
of 70 ft can be met and allow for an exempt subdivision.  

The surrounding zoning and land use in the immediate area is R-12, single family residential. While there 
are not any R-10 zoned properties in the surrounding area, several properties on Lane and Webb Streets 
are nonconforming R-12 lots that have areas less than 12,000 s.f. Higher density R-8 residential zoning 
exists nearby to the east, in addition to mostly vacant R-20 lots to the south.  

The proposed rezoning is consistent with the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the Mebane 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan. The subject property is located in the G-4 Secondary Growth 
Area, which recommends land uses that are primarily residential and businesses to serve residential 
needs.  

A project report has not been provided for this general rezoning request due to the simplicity of the 
request and lack of site details, waivers, etc. 

Financial Impact 
The developer will be required to make any improvements at their own expense. 

Recommendation 
At their December 14, 2021, meeting the Mebane Planning Board voted 4 – 1 to recommend the rezoning 
request be approved. Boardmember Judy Taylor felt that the action would not be in harmony with the 
surrounding zoning. 

The Planning staff has reviewed the request for harmony with the zoning of the surrounding area and 
consistency with the City’s adopted plans and recommends approval. The proposed rezoning will be 
consistent with surrounding single-family residential properties in the area. 

Suggested Motion 
1. Motion to approve the R-10 rezoning as presented.  

 
2. Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 

Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. The request: 
 
 Is for a property within the City’s G-4 Secondary Growth Area and is generally residential in nature 

(Mebane CLP, p.66). 
 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 3 

3. Motion to deny the R-10 rezoning as presented due to a lack of 
a. Harmony with the surrounding zoning.  

OR 
b. Consistency with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land Development 

Plan Mebane By Design or any of the City’s other adopted plans. 

Attachments 
1. Zoning Amendment Application 
2. Zoning Map 
3. Future Growth Area Map 
 
 
 



APPLICATION FOR A ZONING/TEXT AMENDMENT

Do you have  any  conflicts  of interest  with  Elected/Appointed  Officials,  Staff,  etc.?

Yes €  Explain:

Sketch  atta.ched:  Yes  -"" No

Action  by Planning  Board:

Public  Hearing  Date: Action:

Zoning  Map  Corrected:

The following  items  should  be included  with  the  application  for  rezoning  when  it is returned:

1.  Tax Map  showing  the  area  that  is to be considered  for  rezoning.

2. Names  and addresses  of  all adjoining  property  owners  within  a 300" radius  (Include  those  across

the  street).

3. S300.00 Fee to COVer administrative COStS. PAIDliloiti
4. The information  is due 15  working  days prior  to the  Planning  Board  meeting.  The Planning

Board  meets  the  2"  Monday  of  each month  at 6:30  p.m. Then  the  request  goes  to the  City

Council  for  a Public  Hearing  the  following  month.  The City  Council  meets  the 1"  Monday  of  each

month  at 6:00  p.m.



Gryffindoor  Properties,  LLC

Pa Box 90214

Raleigh,  NC 27675

October  29, 2021

City  of  Mebane

To Whom  It May  Concern:

We are humbly  asking  for  assistance  in gaining  approval  to  split  the  lot  located  on the  corner  of  S. Lane

and E. Webb  St. We  recently  purchased  the  property  Parcel  ID 168586,  that  has an existing  home  in

poor  condition.  We  feel  that  the  best  use of  the  property  for  us, as well  as the  community,  would  be to

tear  down  the  existing  home  and build  2 new  single  family  homes.  After  purchasing  the  property  which

GIS shows  at.596  acres  (25,961sqft),  we had it surveyed.  The survey  revealed.50  acres  (21,780),  which

just  falls  short  of  the  zoning  requirement  of  12,000  sqft  needed  for  the  R12 zoning.

Upon  further  review,  we  are finding  that  many  of  the  surrounding  homes  are built  on lots  that  are less

than the  square  footage  needed  for  the  current  R12 zoning.  I am including  GIS maps  showing  numerous

non-conforming  homes  in this  direct  area.  Also  attached  is a preliminary  survey  showing  the  property

split  into  2 lots,  each  with  O.25 acres  (10,890  sqft).  This  would  allow  us to easily  build  2 single  family

homes, thus  improving  the  aesthetics,  and being  harmonious  with  the  neighborhood.  Parcels  168573,

168875,  168589,  168590,  168311  in particular  are at or under.25  acres,  and  in the  immediate

neighborhood.  There  are many  others  within  that  direct  area  that  have  existing  homes  and are also

under.25  acres.

Parcels  within  300ft  of  subject  property.

118  S. Lane St. WENDELKEN  MARIKA  & LESA  HOLMES

116  S. Lane St. Ann  & Dennis  Miller

114  S. Lane St. Ann  & Dennis  Miller

115 S. Lane St. TINNIN JAMES HEIRS C/O SOPHELIA BANKS

117  S. Lane St. Heather  Gunn

119  S. Lane St. Dennis  & Joyce  Miller

110  S. Lane St Mebane  First  Baptist  Church



MICHAEL  R. WHITFIELD  SITESURVEY
PROFESSIONALLANDSLIRVEYOR  FOR
3118N.C.HWY86N.  LOT5
HILLSBOROUG' "'a  27278 LOT  5, "PROPERTY  OF GEORGE  E. HOLT,  JR
984-234-9793 DUKEMcCRAKENHOLT,
mikewhitfieldpls@yahoo.com ALENDERW.DICKSON"

MELVILLE  TWP.,  ALAMANCE  co.,  N.C.

40'  0 40'  80'
I

,,  i  ffll   
'It     i
Th SEPTEMBER  20,  2021  SCALE  1 "=40'

;  it
 /

Cl  I
rN/F

EDNA J. DAVIS %

0B. 437, PG. 895 11, LOT 6
i"  N/F

, ,r MARIKAWENDELKEN  7a
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ,F,  [)B 2532, PG. 952

PB 7, PG.45  /

/

s.B,  /
'7B, I

00...5  ,/

/

768 ,7sidewalk

,-.,.,,{j;l.,,.,=...,  ,..,,,

m' ll'rs"o  7'.1.  "--

a LOT  A  i'  ;,,"""'-  CONTROL
0.25  ACRES  E ") d"""ay coRNER

,  , , _ il
10,934 sq. ft. ,l' o" ._ <.......4 ir-' k

a - D  !
PST4 LOT  s <89  "'  %  i'
EMMAL.WATKINS  O,50  ACRES  h  -'  fi  ,'
PB. 7, PG 45 Q . 72s  t- g_ l  "  "
DB.  229,  PG.  304  ui  C')

-'kl')
T-   -
0.  i_l I  I

L-  -  s_r i%%,

r :  LOT  s "-25oa  s'  "J  'Q)' r/
" 0.25ACRES  "'Q'  ,/

10,933  sq. fk. T
%/,  ,"

(/)  a,"oo "/
0

'-y
nye

/

-  - -  _ _ _ _ _ _ _, hydrant l'

7-J _%_- J-JN-q_8a"08',36"-W- '102 30' - -"MP '-  '  -  '  -  '  -  '  -  '

E. WEBB STREET
50' PUBLIC  R/W

--- ----  - - - - ---  - ----------  - --- --1  l--  -  -  - -  - -  - _  _

i i
I I

I LOT  INFORMATION
122  S. LANE  STREET,

LEGEND  MEBANE,x.c.27302
IF = IRON FOUND GPIN  # 9825214594

is = IRON SET NOTE; UNDERGROLIND LITILITY SERVICE PARcEL,D#168586
MP= MATHEMATICAL POINT EXISTS ON SUBJECT  PROPERTY.  PLAT  BOOK  7, PG,  4s

1, MICHAEL  R. WHITFIELD,  A PROFESSIONAL  LAND  SURVEYOR
CERTIFY  THAT  THE  BLIILDINGS  SHOWN  LIE UPON  THE

PROPERTY  AS SHOWN,  AND  THAT  EXCEPT  AS NOTED.  THERE
ARE  NO ENCROACHMENTS  OF OTHER  STRuCTURES  ONTO
THE  PROPERTY
THIS  PLAT  IS NOT  IN ACCORDANCE  WITH  G.S 47-30  AND  IS
NOT  FOR  RECORDATION.

PRELIMINARY  PLAT:

NOT  FOR  SALES,

CONVEY  ANCES  OR

RECORDATION.

Vici,Hg4H;P

kDSr
</

% 2,"o SITE  ,S!E'
*

MICHAELR  WHITFIEL[)  []ATE / E. WEBB ST I
T tavsrse  PC



11/1/21,  10:26  AM DJI 0075.JPG

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?tab=rm#sent/QgrcJHsNhMvjRSHbZQXTfkmwGJVQKXVJzqB?projector=1 &messagePartld=0.9 1/1



11/1/21,  10:27  AM DJI 0086.JPG

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?tab=rm#sent/QgrcJHsNhMvjRSHbZQXTftmwGJVQKXVJzqB?projector=1 &messagePartld=0.  1 1/1



Alamance County GIS
Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, USGS, Intermap, INCREMENT P, NRCan,

Address Points
Address
Tax Address

Preliminary Address
Heavy Industrial Development Applicants

APPLIED FOR PERMIT

PERMIT APPROVED

PERMIT RENEWED

UNDER CONSTRUCTION

November 10, 2021

 
 

Owner Name: GRYFFINDOOR PROPERTIES LLC 

217-856-199825214594, GPIN:PID:

DISCLAIM ER:
The datasets and m aps available are not survey grade or a legal
 document .  They are a best approxim ation of what is on the
 ground, but do contain errors.  The data com es f rom  various
 sources nat ionally,  the state of  North Carolina, and here in
 Alam ance County.  Al amance County wi ll not  be held responsible
 for the misuse, misrepresentation,  or m isinterpretat ion of the data or
 maps.   T hese maps and data are a service provi ded for the benefit
 for A lam ance County c it izens.   We constantly st rive to improve the
 qualit y and expand the am ount of data and m aps avail able.

ALAMANCE CO UNT Y shall  assum e no liabili ty  for any errors,
 omi ssions, or inaccuracies i n the inform ation provi ded regardl ess of
 how caused; or any decisi on m ade or acti on taken or not taken by
 user in rel iance upon any i nformat ion or data furnished hereunder.
 The user knowingly wai ves any and all cl aims for dam ages against
 any and all of  the ent iti es com pris ing the Al amance County GIS
 System  that may arise f rom the mapping data. Date: 11/10/2021

0 0.02 0.04 mi

µ



DATE: 12/06/2021

DRAWN BY: AV

CITY OF MEBANE General Rezoning
122 S Lane Street

ZONING MAP 1 inch = 200 feet

S 
EI

GH
TH

 S
T

E WEBB ST

WALKER CT

E OAKW
OOD ST

WALKER DR

S 
LA

N
E 

ST

CIRCLE DR

S 
TE

N
TH

 S
T

R-12

R-12

R-12

R-8

R-20

R-12

R-20

R-12

R-12

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

Subject Property

B-1

B-2

B-2 & M-1

B-2(CD)

B-3

CU-B2

M-1

M-1(CD)

M-2

MHP

O&I

O&I(CD)

R-10

R-12

R-12(CD)

R-15

R-20

R-6

R-6(CD)

R-8

R-8(CD)

F



Secondary

E WEBB ST

WALKER CT

CIRCLE DR

W
AL

KE
R 

DR

S 
LA

N
E 

ST

E OAKW
OOD ST

S 
EI

GH
TH

 S
T

VICKERS ST

E JACKSON ST

CEDAR CT

E MCKINLEY ST

S 
N

IN
TH

 S
T

S 
SE

VE
N
TH

 S
T

S 
TE

N
TH

 S
T

S 
EL

EV
EN

TH
 S

T

Maxar, MicrosoftF

1 inch = 300 feet

DATE: 12/06/2021

DRAWN BY: AV

CITY OF MEBANE General Rezoning
122 S Lane Street

Future Growth Area Map



 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #5B 
VAR 22-01 
Variance –  
Side Yard Accessory Structure 
4746 Mrs. White Lane 

Presenter 
Cy Stober, Development Director 

Applicant 
Michael Pettiford 
4746 Mrs. White Lane 
Mebane, NC 27302 

Public Hearing 
Yes   No  

 

  

Exhibit Map 

 

Property 
4746 Mrs. 
White Lane 
Alamance 
County GPIN 
9815935747 

Proposed 
Zoning 
N/A 

Current 
Zoning 
R-20 

Size 
+/-2.77 ac 

Surrounding 
Zoning 
R-20 

Surrounding 
Land Uses 
Residential; 
Vacant 

Utilities 
Present 

Floodplain 
No 

Watershed 
Yes 

City Limits 
No 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

 

Summary 
Michael Pettiford is requesting a variance for the property at 4746 Mrs. White Lane to allow for an 
accessory structure in the side yard. Per Article 4, Section 2.B.1(b), “…accessory structures shall be located 
in rear yards and shall be no closer than 10 feet to rear or side yard lines”. The placement of Mr. Pettiford’s 
residence on the property limits the ability to place the structure on this +/-2.77-acre property to less than 
a 0.5 acre area to the rear of the house. One of the two existing accessory structures on the property will 
be demolished to allow for this new, second accessory structure.  

Financial Impact 
N/A 

Recommendation 
N/A  

Variance requests are at the discretion of the Board of Adjustment (BOA), as they represent a request for 
relief from the Mebane UDO due to a hardship with the properties. The undue burden placed by the 
hardship is the responsibility of the applicant to prove and the BOA to judge.  

Suggested Motion 
1. Motion to approve the variance request as presented due to the hardships present on this property.  

OR  

2. Motion to deny the variance request as presented. 

Attachments 
1. Variance Request Application, with supporting materials 













Mebane Fire Dept. Monthly Report

November Year to Date % Change from 2020

Structural Response
Totals 21 309 35%

Average Personnel Per Response 10 10
Average Volunteer Response 2 2

Totals 70 715 17%

Total Fire Response 91 1024 22%

Location  (Year to Date) North South
Total Number/Precentage 460/45% 564/55%

North South
Average Fire Response Time 4:56 6:00

Precentage of Calls Inside City 48% 52%
Precentage of Calls Outside City 34% 33%
Precentage of Calls for Mutual Aid 18% 15%

EMT Response 138 1757 19%

Location  (Year to Date) North South
Total Number/ Precentage 806/46% 951/54%

CPS Seats Checked 17 172
Views on Fire Safety Facebook Posts 0 1371
Smoke Alarms Checked/Installed 4 54
Station Tours/Programs 13 35
# of Participants 198 3075
Events Conducted/Attended 1 21

Non Structural Responses



 

1 
 

Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

December 13, 2021 
           6:30 p.m. 

The Planning Board meeting was held at the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building located at 106 E. 
Washington Street, Mebane, NC 27302 and livestreamed via YouTube. The video can be accessed through 
the following link: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cO4JjEDAhvg   
 
Members Present: Chairman Edward Tulauskas, Vice Chair Judy Taylor, Kurt Pearson, Larry Teague, Keith 
Hoover, Susan Semonite 
 
Also Present:  Audrey Vogel, Planner; Cy Stober, Development Director; Kirk Montgomery, IT Director 
 
1. Call to Order 

At 6:30 p.m. Chairman Edward Tulauskas called the meeting to order. 
 
2. Approval of October 11, 2021, Minutes 

Judy Taylor made a motion to approve the October meeting minutes. Larry Teague seconded the 
motion, which passed unanimously.  

3. City Council Actions Update 
Cy Stober, Development Director, provided an update on the City Council’s recent action at the 
October and November City Council meetings. This included an introduction to Susan Semonite, the 
newly appointed member of the Planning Board. 

4. Request Request to rezone the +/- 0.5 acre (21,780 sf) property addressed 122 S Lane St (PIN 
9825214594), from R-12 to R-10 by Gryffindoor Properties, LLC. 
Staff presented the above general rezoning request. The Planning staff has reviewed the general 
rezoning request for harmony with the zoning of the surrounding area and consistency with the City’s 
adopted plans and recommends approval.  

Audrey Vogel provided a brief overview and PowerPoint of the request. The applicant Michael Griffith 
addressed the board, explaining that the purpose of the rezoning request is to allow the lot to be 
subdivided into two ¼ acre lots to build two homes. One home would be sold and the other kept as 
an investment rental property. He brought a map that highlighted the properties in the area of a 
similar size. Mr. Griffith also showed some example photos of the style homes he would like to build. 

Larry Teague asked about the orientation of the homes. Mr. Griffith responded that both homes 
would have driveways on S. Lane Street, if that is what is required.  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cO4JjEDAhvg


 

2 
 

Dennis Miller, 119 S Lane St, questioned the intention to build two homes on the lot. Mr. Griffith 
showed Mr. Miller the sketch that he provided with his rezoning application, highlighting where the 
property would be split. Mr. Griffith confirmed for Mr. Miller that the homes would be 3-bedroom, 2-
bathroom units, with the same homebuilder as those homes on Holt Street. The homebuilder, Derek 
Murray, was in attendance and confirmed that the homes would range from 1500 to 1700 sf.  

The adjacent property owner Chris Watkins, 435 E Webb, expressed opposition to the proposed 
rezoning, expressing concern about change to the character of the neighborhood. Mr. Watkins 
explained that it is an old, family-oriented neighborhood in which the existing homes have been there 
very for a very long time. He added concerns about the request devaluing the neighborhood.  

Pastor Barry Morrow, the Mebane First Baptist Church at 110 S Lane St, echoed the sentiments of his 
neighbors. Pastor Morrow reiterated that the neighborhood is historic and that two homes on one lot 
is excessive. He added that as a corner lot, two driveways nearby a stop sign and intersection seems 
unsafe. Pastor Morrow indicated that it seems like an opportunity to make money that will 
compromise the current quality of life in the neighborhood.  

Kurt Pearson asked Pastor Morrow to elaborate more on his reasoning and concern about 
neighborhood change. Pastor Morrow explained that he’s seen a pattern of this type of development 
that capitalized on a neighborhood and by putting two homes where one existed – one for sale and 
one for rent – is clearly motivated by financial gain at the expense of the harmony and character of 
an older neighborhood. He questioned how it would be possible to replace one home with two homes 
without disturbing the neighborhood.   

Kurt Pearson explained that a general rezoning decision cannot take the nature of proposed 
development into account, whether it’s for sale or for rent. Mr. Pearson commented that the existing 
property would sufficiently accommodate the minimum R-10 lot size, with nearly 11,000 sf for both 
lots and that there are lots in the area of similar size. Mr. Pearson noted that from his point of view, 
the home types shown by the applicant would conform to the existing neighborhood’s character and 
has the potential to benefit the neighborhood. 

Pastor Morrow questioned the financial motivation to tear down the existing home completely and 
build two new ones when material and construction costs are so high, as opposed to renovating it. 
Kurt Pearson responded that it is not a factor to consider for the rezoning. 

Benjamin Morrow, 506 S Eighth St, commented that the existing lots referenced by applicant, that do 
not conform to the R-12 lot size, existed long before the Mebane had a zoning ordinance and were 
grandfathered in. He stated that this request is something different and that he opposed the proposed 
rezoning. His reasoning was that he wanted space in his neighborhood, noting that the Planning Board 
members probably enjoyed having space in their neighborhoods. Mr. Morrow indicated that its an 
area where children should be able to run free, not crammed up. 



 

3 
 

Adjacent property owner Marika Wendelken, 118 S Lane St, expressed concern and opposition about 
increasing density in the neighborhood. Ms. Wendelken explained that she supported and understood 
the benefit of having a new home on the property, especially because the existing one is in bad shape, 
however, having two relatively large size homes where one currently exists is concerning. Ms. 
Wendelken referred to increased traffic, activity, and noise as concerns. 

Judy Taylor asked about the average square footage of the surrounding homes in the area. Marika 
Wendelken noted that its about 1000 square feet. The applicant, Michael Griffith, listed off some of 
the square footages of the surrounding homes ranging from 700 sf to 1400 sf. 

Kurt Pearson stated that Planning Board is a body that makes recommendations to the City Council, 
and they do not have the final say. Mr. Pearson explained that the request in his opinion “looks, feels, 
and smells right.”  

Kurt Pearson made a motion to approve the R-12 rezoning request as presented and to find that the 
application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land 
Development Plan Mebane By Design. Keith Hoover seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-1. 
Judy Taylor voted in opposition. 

5. Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Revision Information Item  
Ct Stober provided a PowerPoint presentation and overview about the Planning and Zoning 
Department’s UDO Revision project. He presented on amendments being considered for Articles 2, 3, 
4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 12, and Appendix E. 

Judy Taylor asked if the UDO Open House posters would be posted online? Cy Stober responded that 
they would be posted on the City Website and that staff will work on getting more opportunities for 
engagement online. 

Kurt Pearson expressed appreciation for Staff’s efforts and the tremendous amount of work this type 
of project takes. 

Cy Stober urged the Planning Board to give feedback and reminded them of their role to advise staff 
and council on matters pertaining to the UDO.  

Larry Teague commented that the revisions can’t come soon enough, considering how fast the City is 
growing. Mr. Teague noted that Mebane residents often express concerns about change to him, and 
that it is important for these inevitable changes to be done right. 

6. New Business 
Audrey Vogel reminded the Planning Board about the upcoming Holiday Luncheon.   

Audrey Vogel shared that the City Offices will be closed for the holidays: December 23rd, 24th, 27th & 
31st  



 

4 
 

Susan Semonite asked Cy Stober if more information about by right and routine development that 
does not go through the public hearing process. Mr. Stober responded that the City is working on 
making that permitting data readily available. 

7. Adjournment  
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:30 p.m.   


	Agenda- January 3, 2022
	Item 2- Summay Sheet- Discussion about Prayer
	 Coates Canons- Prayer at Local Government Meetings

	Item 4a- Approval of Minutes- December 6, 2021 Regular Mtg. and PowerPoints
	Item 4b- Summary Sheet- Havenstone Phase 1C - Final Plat
	Havenstone Phase 1C - Final Plat

	Item 4c- Summary Sheet - Federal Equitable Sharing Funds Request 
	Police- supporting docs.
	Budget Amendment 1.3.22

	Item 4d - Summary Sheet- Sole Source Axon Enterprises
	Justification for Sole Source Purchase of Contracts Axon 1.3.22
	 Axon Enterprise, Inc. Sole Source Letter 1.3.22

	Item 5a- Summary Sheet- Rezoning - 122 S Lane St
	Rezoning Application
	Zoning Map
	FGA Map_V2

	Item 5b- Summary Sheet- Variance - Pettiford
	 Supporting Docs.- Pettiford zoning app

	MFD Report November 2021
	PB Meeting Minutes Dec. 2021

